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Some eleven months 
after the West Valley 
Water District hired 
political operative Jer-
emiah Brosowske into a 
do-nothing managerial 
assignment without a 
specific job description 
paying him one quarter 
of a million dollars per 
year, he has tendered his 
resignation and departed 
the district.

In accepting Bro-

sowske’s resignation, the 
district conferred upon 
him a $154,884.80 sever-
ance package.

While most of the 
district’s officials abided 
by the standard govern-
mental protocol of re-
fraining from any sort 
of comment that might 
have been deemed criti-
cal of the district’s cur-
rent or past personnel 
and therefore hailed 

Brosowske’s contribu-
tions during his tenure, 
Channing Hawkins, who 
was elected to the dis-
trict board last fall on a 
reform platform and was 
elevated to the presiden-
cy of the board immedi-
ately after his installa-
tion in November, pulled 
no punches, stating that-
during his time with the 
district Brosowske  pro-
vided “unqualified and 

incompetent manage-
ment and services.”

Brosowske is an ex-
ample among a lengthy 
succession of San Ber-
nardino County per-
sonages who have over 
the last several decades 
successfully monetized 
their involvement in 
politics, either through 
indulging their own am-
bition for office and par-
taking in the spoils - le-

gitimate or illegitimate, 
legal or illegal – thereof, 
or facilitating the ambi-
tion of others. That le-
gion includes Richard 
Rodriguez, Mike Valles, 
Robert Hammock, Rob-
ert Gouty, John Man-
nerino, Brad Mitzelf-
elt, Tad Honeycutt, Jim 
Brulte, Keith Olberg, 
Bill Postmus, Paula 
Nowicki, Matt Brown, 
Tim Johnson, 

By Mark Gutglueck
More than two-and-

a-half years after pros-
ecutors failed to obtain 
convictions against three 
former San Bernardino 
County public officials 
and the wealthy devel-
oper accused of bribing 
them, pretrial skirmish-
ing in the federal civil 
case the four once-ac-
cused brought against 
the county for what they 
say was malicious pros-
ecution continues apace.

 The underlying po-

litical corruption case, 
in which three public 
officials had been pre-
viously convicted, took 
nearly a decade to fully 
resolve.  Late last month, 
the plaintiffs in the civil 
action that prosecution 
spawned achieved a vic-
tory in the form of one 
federal judge finding and 
another federal judge 
confirming that the pros-
ecutor in the case en-
gaged in the destruction 
of evidence.

That finding and its 

accompanying ruling by 
the trial judge is signifi-
cant from the standpoint 
that the offending party 
was Mike Ramos, the 
district attorney whose 
office had prosecuted 
the four individuals 
who now say they were 
wrongfully caught up 
in the criminal matter, 
which dealt with events 
that took place in 2004, 
2005, 2006, 2007 and 
2008 and went to trial in 
2017.

Of note is that much 

or all of the erased or 
destroyed information 
in question consisted of 
emails and text messag-
es relating to Ramos’s 
personal, political and 
professional communi-
cations during his 2018 
reelection campaign, 
which came after the 
trial of the four individu-
als – Jeff Burum, Paul 
Biane, Mark Kirk and 
Jim Erwin – took place 
the previous year.

A key player in the 
matter is Bill Postmus, 

one of the most dynamic 
political entities in San 
Bernardino County at 
the turn of the Third 
Millennium and argu-
ably the most powerful 
personage within San 
Benardino County gov-
ernment through most 
of the current century’s 
first decade. Postmus’s 
reign came at the end of 
a several-decades-long 
period now known as 
San Bernardino Coun-
ty’s “Golden Age of Cor-
ruption,” an 

The Upland City 
Council’s April 1st 4-to-
1 vote to approve Bridge 
Development Part-
ners’ proposal to build 
a 201,096-square-foot 
distribution center for 
on-line retail giant Ama-
zon has precipitated the 
creation of a nonprofit 
entity, dubbed Upland 
Community First, which 
is to undertake a legal 
challenge of the project.

The city council on 
Monday night is set to 
give what is called a 
second reading to that 
project approval. A sec-
ond confirming vote of 
a project is a part of the 
protocol legally required 
to finalize the propo-
nent’s entitlement to 
build.

The Sentinel has 
learned that just-formed 
Upland Community 
First is now working 
with an attorney to ob-
tain a writ of mandate to 
prevent the project from 
proceeding, based upon 
what the group’s mem-
bers consider to be inad-
equacies in the environ-
mental certification for 
the project and improper 
shortcuts in the project 
approval.

The city allowed 
Bridge Development 
Partners to use what is 
referred to as a mitigated 
negative declaration to 
outline the impacts the 
development would have 
on the project site and the 
area surrounding it. The 
upshot of a mitigated 
negative declaration is a 
finding by the responsi-
ble agency with land use 
authority,  in this case 
the Upland City council, 
that any environmental 
impacts from the project 
can be offset or mitigated 
by the conditions of ap-
proval for the project.

It is the contention of 
a number of city resi-
dents that a full-

As of this afternoon, 
seven nursing or conva-
lescent care facilities in 
San Bernardino County 
had experienced mul-
tiple coronavirus-related 
fatalities.

Leading that list is the 
Cedar Mountain Post-
Acute Rehabilitation 
Center in Yucaipa, where 
18 patients have suc-
cumbed to the illness. At 
least 71 residents there, 
34 employees and seven 
others who had contact 
with the facility in some 

capacity have contracted 
the malady.

At the Reche Canyon 
Regional Rehabilitation 
Center in Colton, five 
residents there have died 
in a manner associated 
with the coronavirus, 
and 22 residents, 16 em-
ployees and four others 
tied to the center’s func-
tion had contracted the 
virus.

All three residents at 
the Ontario Healthcare 
Center in Ontario who 
contracted the condition 

have died. One other 
person associated with 
the facility who is not a 
patient contracted the vi-
rus.

At the 37-acre Plym-
outh Village in Red-
lands, three of the eight 
residents who caught the 
virus have expired and 
six employees have test-
ed positive.

Three of those in resi-
dence at the San Antonio 
Post Acute/Villa Mesa 
Care Center in Upland 
have died. In ad-

Somewhat belatedly, 
the City of Adelanto is 
progressing toward get-
ting out of the stadium 
management deal many 
residents feel the city 
should have never gotten 
itself into.

In August 2018, in 
one of the first contracts 
inked by Jessie Flores af-
ter he had been installed 
in the post of city manag-
er, the city agreed to pay 
Aaron Korn and Darrell 

Courtney $20,000 per 
month for two years to 
manage Adelanto Sta-
dium.

The deal came about 
after the city, then led 
by Mayor Rich Kerr, in 
2016 booted the Maver-
icks minor league base-
ball club from the facil-
ity, after the team had 
been playing there for 
24 years. That move led 
to a lawsuit being filed 
against the city that was 

settled after Kerr left 
office. The city agreed 
to make $3.8 million in 
total payments to the 
Mavericks ownership, 
which involved $1.5 mil-
lion that was forked over 
early last year. The city 
has since shelled out out 
another $1,245,400 in 
$95,800 monthly install-
ments over the last 13 
months. The remaining 
amount will be paid in 
similar monthly install-

ments of  $95,800 over 
the next 11 months, to-
taling  $1,053,800.

For years, the city was 
concerned over the mon-
ey it was losing at the 
facility, and it had been 
seeking a buyer.

After the Mavericks 
were evicted, the city 
had an arrangement 
with the San Bernardino 
County Fair, which goes 
by the corporate name 
of the 28th District Agri-

cultural Association, to 
mind the grounds. The 
28th District Agricultural 
Association had brought 
in Korn, who once had 
run for city council in 
Victorville, to serve as 
the stadium manager. 
When the city ended its 
arrangement with the 
fair, Korn was kept on as 
an independent contrac-
tor to continue what he 
had been doing, at a rate 
of $5,000 per 

The Yucca Valley 
Town Council on Tues-
day fully rescinded the 
town’s ordinance relat-
ing to sex offenders.

Acting upon the 
item as an “urgency or-
dinance,” the council 
dispensed with the pre-
viously enacted regu-
lations in the face of a 
lawsuit filed against the 
town in February by an 
unnamed plaintiff repre-
sented by Attorney Jan-
ice Bellucci. Bellucci has 
had success in overturn-

ing similar ordinances in 
municipalities elsewhere 
in California.

Using the leeway 
granted cities and towns 
in California by the pas-
sage of Proposition 82 
(“Jessica’s Law”) in 
2006, the town in 2008 
adopted an ordinance 
prohibiting any regis-
tered sex offender from 
residing within 2,000 
feet of a school, park, or 
daycare center and from 
coming within 300 feet 
of any school or 
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era in which individuals 
such as Fifth District 
County Supervisor Rob-
ert Hammock, Second 
District Supervisor Cal 
McElwain, Fifth District 
Supervisor Jerry Eaves, 
sheriffs Frank Bland, 
Floyd Tidwell and Gary 
Penrod, county admin-
istrative officers Robert 
Covington, Harry Mays 
and James Hlawek, dis-
trict attorneys Jerome 
Kavanaugh and James 
Cramer, County Trea-
surer Tom O’Donnell, 
County Investment Of-
ficer Sol Levin, Fontana 
Mayor Nat Simon, Fon-
tana City Manager Jack 
Ratelle, Hesperia City 
Manager Robert Rizzo, 
Colton Mayor Karl Gay-
tan, Colton councilmem-
bers James Grimsby, 
Don Sanders and Abe 
Beltran among others 
freely participated in 
an openly pay-for-play 
environment in which 
bribes and kickbacks and 
the use of governmental 
authority to perpetuate 
political power and en-
able financial empires 
were the common ethos, 
a circumstance that 
some believe persisted 
throughout Postmus’s 
tenure and beyond to 
the current time in the 
personages of former 
Upland Mayor John Po-
mierski, former Upland 
councilmen Michael Li-
butti, Ken Willis, Bren-
dan Brandt and Tom 
Thomas, Upland City 
Manager Robb Quincey, 
First District Supervisor 
Brad Mitzelfelt, Second 
District Supervisor Jan-
ice Rutherford, Fourth 
District Supervisor Curt 
Hagman and Third Dis-
trict Supervisor Dawn 
Rowe.

In 2000, Postmus was 
elected to the board of 
supervisors at the age 
of 29, making him, af-
ter Minor Cobb Tuttle in 
1862, Norman Taylor in 
1855, Robert McCoy in 
1861, John C. Turner in 
1893 and Gus Skropos 
in 1985, the sixth young-
est county supervisor in 
San Bernardino County 
history. Four years later, 
in 2004, he became the 
second youngest chair-
man of the county board 
of supervisors after John 

C. Turner in 1895. That 
year he also became the 
chairman of the San Ber-
nardino County Repub-
lican Central Commit-
tee, a perch from which 
he had control over the 
purse strings of the lo-
cal GOP’s campaign war 
chest and held tremen-
dous sway in determin-
ing who was elected to 
an overwhelming num-
ber of political offices 
in the county. In 2006 
he expended more than 
$2 million in what yet 
remains the most expen-
sive political campaign 
in county history when 
he successfully chal-
lenged the incumbent 
county assessor, Don 
Williamson, thereby ac-
ceding to the most pow-
erful taxing position in 
San Bernardino County.

He had been the single 
most powerful political 
entity in San Bernardino 
County during his hey-
day, a virtual kingmaker.

In 1997, three years 
before Postmus had been 
elected to the board of 
supervisors, then-45-
year-old Dan Richards 
formed the Colonies 
Partners with Jeff Bu-
rum, who was eleven 
years his junior.

Prior to that, Richards 
had been one of the own-
ers of Stephen Daniels 
Commercial Brokerage 
and a former member of 
the Foothill Fire District 
Board of Trustees, which 
ceased to exist after the 
district was absorbed 
by the City of Rancho 
Cucamonga in 1989 to 
become the Rancho Cu-
camonga Municipal Fire 
Department. With the 
backing of 21 other in-
vestors, Richards and 
Burum raised $16 mil-
lion to purchase from the 
San Antonio Liquida-
tion Trust 489 acres lo-
cated in the northeastern 
quadrant of what is now 
Upland, property long 
owned by the San Anto-
nio Water Company and 
utilized for purposes of 
groundwater recharge 
and flood mitigation.

It was Richards’ and 
Burum’s intention to 
convert that land into a 
residential subdivision 
with some order of a 
commercial component. 

But the property was 
problematic. Lying just 
south of the foothills at 
the eastern extension of 
the San Gabriel Moun-
tains, it was subject to 
flooding even during 
moderate rain, as the 
water would cascade 
down the south face of 
8,696 foot-elevation On-
tario Peak, which towers 
above Upland and San 
Antonio Heights to the 
north, and inundate the 
property. During a ma-
jor deluge the entirety 
of the property – what is 
referred to as an alluvial 
creek – would become 
a raging river. A few 
quarries had been sunk 
into the property, from 
which granite, gravel 
and limestone had been 
extracted during the 
early decades of the 20th 

Century. Those quarries 
were utilized as catch 
basins and recharge ba-
sins, into which the flood 
waters would pour and 
then gradually settle into 
the water table. In 1933, 
1934, 1939 and 1962, the 
San Bernardino County 
Flood Control District 
had recorded flood ease-
ments on the property.

Prior to Richards’ 
and Burums’ effort to 
develop the property, 
four highly reputable 
residential development 
companies had explored 
the same idea. Orange 
County-based Pennhill 
Land Company and Or-
ange County-based Kohl 
Company seriously ex-
amined all of the require-
ments to get an actual 
entitlement to build what 
was then dubbed the San 
Antonio Lakes project. 
That included redress-
ing the overwhelming 
flood issues on the prop-
erty, which would entail 
building a contrivance 
to carry the water away 
and meet the statutory 
requirement of ensur-
ing that in the face of the 
worst flooding that could 
be expected to occur sta-
tistically in a 100-year 
period the houses built 
there would remain one 
foot above the level of 
the water. That was too 
daunting, the Pennhill 
Land Company and the 
Kohl Company conclud-
ed, and their incipient 
plans for the project were 
abandoned. The William 
F. Lyon Company, then 
took a run at building a 
planned community on 
the property, slightly re-
working the name into 
“The Lakes at San An-

tonio.” Ultimately, the 
Lyon Company came 
to the same conclusion 
as the Kohl Company 
before it. Then Lewis 
Homes took up the proj-
ect concept. Lewis, too, 
would conclude that the 
project simply would not 
pencil out if it were to 
be developed to the tra-
ditional standards, and it 
forsook proceeding.

Richards, however, as 
a former elected official, 
understood precisely that 
obtaining project approv-
al involved a relatively 
simple formula of secur-
ing majority support on 
the governmental deci-
sion-making panel that 
had jurisdiction and land 
use authority over the 
property upon which the 
project was to be built, 
which in this case was 
the Upland City Coun-
cil. Through a shrewd 
investment of less than 
$25,000 in political con-
tributions to the mayor 
and city council, Rich-
ards and Burum gained 
influence over that body. 
It so happened that Up-
land, at that time a city 
of 68,570 population, 
had recently downsized 
its municipal operations, 
dispensing with its as-
sistant city manager, its 
city engineer, its engi-
neering department and 
a significant portion of 
its community develop-
ment/planning divisions. 
With Richards having 
arranged for the project’s 
acceptance on the politi-
cal level, he and Burum 
overcame the practical 
issues relating to getting 
city staff acquiescence 
in the undertaking by 
agreeing to pay for the 
city to hire contract en-
gineering and planning 
professionals to monitor 
and guide the munici-
pal approval process for 
the proposal, including 
meeting development 
standards and passing 
inspections. The money 
in their paychecks origi-
nating with the Colonies 
Partners, those contract 
planning and engineer-
ing professionals enlist-
ed to work on the project 
by the city acted accord-
ingly, ensuring that the 
project could proceed.

As the old hand who 
knew the political lay 
of the land, Richards 
worked almost invis-
ibly from the backroom, 
wiring the deals politi-
cally, while the hungrier 
Burum, who was more 
steeped in the ins and 

outs of the building in-
dustry, along with his 
brother Phil, took on a 
more public role in the 
promotion of the project.

A major issue was the 
need for infrastructure to 
accommodate the proj-
ect, in particular flood 
control. Accounts vary 
as to what the Colonies 
Partners proposed to the 
county, the county flood 
control division and Jon 
Mikels, who was then 
the supervisor for the 
Second District, which 
included all of Upland 
at that time, as well as 
adjoining Rancho Cu-
camonga and San Anto-
nio Heights. According 
to county officials, the 
Colonies Partners want-
ed the county, through 
its flood control division, 
along with the Army 
Corps of Engineers, to 
pay for the lion’s share of 
the flood control chan-
nelization and retention 
basins as part of a deal 
that would involve those 
water-holding-and-con-
veying facilities being 
built on property within 
the original 489 acres or 
on another 22.3 acres the 
Colonies Partners had 
tied up south of the proj-
ect area. Mikels, how-
ever, was adamant that 
neither the county nor 
its flood control division 
should defray any part of 
the cost of providing the 
infrastructure that would 
be required for the proj-
ect to proceed. The su-
pervisor became further 
entrenched in that view 
when he learned that 
the Colonies Partners 
had sold for $17 mil-
lion 40 of the 489 acres 
at the northern fifth of 
the property to the Cali-
fornia Department of 
Transportation as right-
of-way for the 210 Free-
way. By making the sale 
to CalTrans, Richards 

had made for the consor-
tium almost $1 million 
more than the Colonies 
Partners had paid for 
the entirety of the acre-
age. That $17 million in-
cluded payment for the 
property and what was 
referred to as “sever-
ance damages,” mean-
ing any encumbrance 
on the property that re-
mained in the possession 
of the Colonies Partners 
as a consequence of the 
construction of the free-
way, including paying 
for needed flood control 
facilities. Mikels was 
highly cognizant that the 
placement of the freeway 
along the north-lying 
portion of the Colonies 
Partners’ property had 
transitioned what was 
empty and unimproved 
land into prime com-
mercial acreage, greatly 
enhancing its value. 
Given that the property 
had been designated on 
zoning maps as open 
space and was shown as 
undevelopable without 
the stormdrains, basins 
and channels required 
to prevent that property 
and other properties next 
to it from being inundat-
ed during heavy rains, 
Mikels insisted that the 
project be held in abey-
ance until such time as 
the Army Corps of En-
gineers got around to 
constructing a regional 
network that would al-
leviate flooding there or 
the Colonies Partners 
itself took up the con-
struction of the water di-
version system needed. 
At one point, according 
to the Colonies Part-
ners, Mikels said he was 
unwilling to put up $1 
million toward the proj-
ect the Colonies Part-
ners was proposing as 
the county’s share of the 
infrastructure burden. 
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blown environmental 
impact report for a proj-
ect of the intensity and 
scope of what Bridge is 
intent on completing is 
required, and that the 
mitigated negative dec-
laration inadequately de-
lineates the impacts and 
does not outline realistic 
mitigations for the oner-
ous impacts the project 
entails.

There was concern 
that the mitigated nega-
tive declaration did not 
accurately account for 
the ecological havoc to 
be wrought by the truck 
traffic bringing merchan-

dise into the facility and 
the van traffic depart-
ing from the completed 
warehouse to deliver the 
merchandise to its final 
users.

Moreover, the projec-
tions made in the miti-
gated negative declara-
tion and its statement 
with regard to the num-
ber of vans – said to be 
fewer than 400 – to be 
in use at the completed 
project were not in keep-
ing with the more than 
1,400 parking spaces 
that are provided for in 
the project site plan. This 
has led some to conclude 
that Amazon will ex-
pand its operation well 
beyond the limitations 
outlined in the applica-
tion by Bridge.

An inducement Bridge 

Development Partners 
used to convince the 
majority of the council 
to approve the applica-
tion was the offering of 
$16 million in payments 
to the city to offset the 
lack of sales tax the com-
pleted facility will entail, 
since Amazon’s internet 
sales model eschews the 
charging of sales tax. Yet 
given the 50-year life of 
the lease that Bridge is to 
have with Amazon, it has 
been projected that the 
cost of repairing damage 
to city roads done by the 
presence of the project 
over that time-frame will 
exceed the money being 
put up by Bridge. There 
is an option for a 50-year 
renewal of the lease that 
will potentially boost the 
life of the project to 100 

years, during which time 
project critics say future 
city residents will be 
burdened with a land use 
that will severely impact 
the residents’ quality of 
life with no return what-
soever to the community 
hosting it.

Additionally, some 
city residents are con-
cerned that this coming 
Monday night Bridge is 
asking the city to sus-
pend the company’s pay-
ments to the city until 
the city provides it with 
an occupancy permit on 
the project, a condition 
that was not in the devel-
opment agreement when 
it was given first reading.

Overhanging the en-
tire issue is that the city 
council is undertaking 
its consideration of these 

issues while restrictions 
on public gatherings be-
cause of concerns about 
the coronavirus outbreak 
are in place. This has 
resulted in the council 
holding public hearings 
from which the public 
is excluded. An increas-
ingly vocal core of Up-
land residents say that 

Upland  Group 
Wants Writ Of 
Mandate Against 
Amazon Project  
from front page

dition, 24 residents and 
four employees tested 
positive for COVID-19.

The Spring Valley 
Post Acute Center in 
Victorville suffered two 
deaths among the three 
residents who became 
infected. Two employees 
and one other person as-
sociated with the facility 
have tested positive.

The Hi-Desert Medi-
cal Center Skilled Nurs-
ing Facility in Joshua 
Tree has lost two patients 
to the disease among the 
12 who have come down 
with it there. Seven em-
ployees have contracted 
COVID-19 and it has in-
fected one other person 
who had regular access 
to the home.

There has been one 
death each at the Asis-
tencia Villa Rehabilita-
tion and Care Center 
in, Redlands and the 
Calimesa Post Acute 
Care Center in Yucaipa. 
The Calimesa Post Acute 
Care Center had 41 resi-

dents who tested positive 
for the condition.

At the Green Valley 
Home Health Services 
Home in Apple Valley, 
one employee has been 
infected.

At the Inland Chris-
tian Home in Ontario, 
ten employees became 
infected.

At Las Colinas Post 
Acute Care in Ontario, 
four residents and seven 
employees are sick with 
the disease.

Laurel Wellness and 
Nursing Center in Fon-
tana has one infected 
employee.

A single employee at 
the Neurological Sub-
acute – Community Hos-
pital of San Bernardino 
in San Bernardino has 
tested positive.

One employee at the 
Terracina Post Acute 
Care Center in Redlands 
is likewise infected.

Throughout the coun-
ty, there have been 188 
total known cases of CO-
VID-19 among residents 
in the county’s nursing 
facilities.

In response to Gov-
ernor Gavin Newsom 
paring back his stay-at-

home order, San Ber-
nardino County officials 
said that as of tomorrow 
the county’s public health 
order will be tweaked to 
allow recreational areas 
at parks and golf courses 
to be opened to the pub-
lic with the proviso that 
those there practice safe 
social distancing and use 
face coverings.

Hiking, biking, boat-
ing and other non-con-
tact outdoor activities, 
including golf and tennis 
will be allowed.

Chino Hills, which 
closed its trails on April 
1 after a glut of people 
began showing up at 
its parks and were not 
observing social dis-
tancing, announced 
this morning that it will 
reopen all 48 miles of 
city trails to the public 
starting Saturday, April 
25, pursuant to the ob-
servance of safety pro-
tocols.

San Bernardino 
County Board of Super-
visors Chairman and for-
mer Chino Hills Mayor 
Curt Hagman said, “Like 
other local governments, 
we are carefully follow-
ing the rules mandated 

by the state to help limit 
the spread of the corona-
virus, and we are closely 
following the governor’s 
timeline for relaxing 
some of our social dis-
tancing requirements. 
There are policies we as 
a county can control, and 
so we’re pleased to make 
this announcement.”

Meanwhile, there is 
uneven conformance and 
in some cases defiance 
throughout the county 
with the mandate that 
nonessential businesses 
be shuttered. Some retail 
shops, barber shops, car 
washes, electronic de-
vice stores, nail salons, 
tattoo shops and other 
commercial establish-
ments remain open for 
business.

Some residents have 
expressed dismay at the 
circumstance, while oth-
ers have expressed ap-
proval by patronizing 
those businesses.

Since March 17, the 
San Bernardino County 
Department of Public 
Health has sent out more 
than 650 advisal letters 
instructing non-essential 
businesses to close or 
alter operations after re-

ceiving complaints about 
them operating in viola-
tion of health orders.

It is unclear what 
sanction the county will 
use on those who contin-
ue to defy the mandate.

The county has cre-
ated a COVID-19 hotline 
at (909) 387-3911 and 
provides a form to alert 
authorities of violations 
of governmental orders.

U.S. Federal Judge 
Terry J. Hatter Jr. on 
Thursday April 23, or-
dered immigration offi-
cials to reduce the num-
ber of people held at the 
Adelanto Immigration 
and Customs Enforce-
ment Processing Center 
to allow safe distancing 
among inmates during 
the pandemic.

Judge Hatter said im-
migration officials must 
reduce the detainee 
population in Adelanto, 
starting with the release 
of at least 100 immi-
grants by Monday, April 
27, and 150 more by 
April 30.

The detainee popula-
tion, Hatter mandated, 
must be thinned from its 
current level of roughly 
1,300 men and women to 

“a level that would allow 
the remaining detainees 
to maintain a social dis-
tance of 6 feet from each 
other at all times and 
at all places, including 
while sleeping, eating, 
showering, and going 
about other daily activi-
ties, except when there is 
a medical necessity or a 
safety emergency.”

Hatter’s order came in 
response to a filing for a 
preliminary injunction 
made by the American 
Civil Liberties Union 
Foundation of Southern 
California and the law 
firm of Latham & Wat-
kins, a follow-up to a 
lawsuit filed earlier this 
month alleging that con-
ditions at the Adelanto 
center endangered the 
lives of detainees during 
the coronavirus crisis.

As of late this after-
noon, 80 people in San 
Beranrdino County are 
known to have died 
from COVID-19 and 
1,666 people have test-
ed positive for the dis-
ease, according to the 
San Bernardino County 
Department of Public 
Health.

-Mark Gutglueck

month.
That $5,000 covered 

Korn’s and Courtney’s 
salaries, and was to run 
for  six months. Not quite 
six months later, Flores 
altered the deal, quadru-
pling the amount Korn 
and Courtney were to 

receive.
They committed 

to work with booking 
agents and promoters to 
bring entertainers to the 
stadium for events that 
would draw customers 
to the city’s businesses, 
and simultaneously gen-
erate rental revenue for 
the city from the acts us-
ing the stadium as a per-
forming venue.

The ability of the sta-
dium to meet the goals 

the city had in mind was 
uneven. Some months 
the city made a little 
money. Other times, the 
money brought in was 
less than was being paid 
to Korn and Courtney.

With the onset of the 
Coronavirus crisis and 
the mandates against 
public gatherings and 
the stay at home orders 
emanating from Gov-
ernor Gavin Newsom 
and local authorities, the 

stadium stood empty. Its 
last event was the Ven-
tura Stars Circus on Feb-
ruary 24.

For two months, the 
facility has been moth-
balled, and some resi-
dents have begun to 
question the wisdom of 
expending $20,000 a 
month to manage a fi-
nancial black hole.

There is a clause in 
the contract that allows 
the city to opt out if there 

is not sufficient revenue 
being generated at the 
stadium to justify the 
continuation of the ar-
rangement with Korn 
and Courtney.

Mayor Gabriel Reyes 
this week told the Sen-
tinel, “Councilman [Ed] 
Camargo brought that 
up at our last meeting, 
and the city manager 
has brought it to our at-
tention, also. They have 
started a conversation 

with the management 
team to let them know 
there is going to be some 
cancellation or modifi-
cation due to the COV-
ID-19 situation, and the 
obvious lack of activity 
going on. So, yes, that 
conversation has started. 
We have been in com-
munication with the city 
attorney, and he will be 
giving us direction on 
this.”

Continued on Page 4

Similarly, according to 
the Colonies Partners, 
the county was unwill-
ing to throw $3 million 
toward the construction 
of the 67-acre holding 
basin to be located on the 
Colonies Partners prop-

Mikels Resisted 
County Construct-
ing Flood Basin For 
Colonies Develop-
ment  from page 2 

Stadium Manage-
ment Gravy Train 
Coming To AHalt 
For Korn & Court-
ney  from front page

erty. Richards has more 
recently maintained that 
on one occasion when 
he and Burum had met 
with Mikels, they offered 
him a three-ring binder 
which contained draw-
ings, specifications and 
other details relating to 
a $25 million basin they 
were proposing to have 
the county flood control 
division construct on 

items of such contro-
versy should not be dis-
cussed and voted upon in 
a forum from which resi-
dents to be impacted by 
the project are not given 
an adequate opportu-
nity to express their con-
cerns.

-Mark Gutglueck
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His Time As A 
Politician Instilled 
In Richards An 
Understanding That 
All Politicians, Even 
The DA, Are For 
Sale  from  page 2

their property, toward 
which they were willing 
to provide the land at no 
cost and cover $12.5 mil-
lion of the construction 
price. Mikels, Richards 
said, refused to even 
look at the binder.

Ultimately, in 2002, 
the Colonies Partners 
sued the county and its 
flood control division 
over the outstanding 
drainage and flood con-
trol issues relating to the 
project. That same year, 
Richards engineered a 
political coup to remove 
Mikels, whom he and 
Burum considered to be 
the primary obstruction 
to the project, from of-
fice. They did so by de-
livering, either directly 
or indirectly, $70,000 
in political donations to 
Paul Biane, then a Ran-
cho Cucamonga coun-
cilman, who challenged 
Mikels in the 2002 elec-
tion. Also running for 
reelection that year was 
District Attorney Dennis 
Stout.

There had been a long-
standing previous po-
litical alliance between 
Mikels and Stout. When 
Mikels had been elected 
in 1977 as a charter mem-
ber of the Rancho Cu-
camonga City Council, 
he had appointed Stout 
to serve as a member of 
the Rancho Cucamonga 
Planning Commission. 
Thereafter, when at that 
time the mayor was ap-
pointed from among the 
council ranks by a vote 
of its members, Mikels 
had acceded to that post. 

In 1986, when Mikels 
stepped up to run, ulti-
mately successfully, for 
Second District county 
supervisor, so too did 
Stout vie for office suc-
cessfully that year, in 
what was Rancho Cu-
camonga’s first direct 
mayoral contest. Mikels 
and Stout had endorsed 
one another in their re-
spective contests. Both 
were re-elected in 1990. 
In 1994, while Mikels 
was again cruising to an 
easy victory as supervi-
sor, Stout successfully 
sought election as San 
Bernardino County Dis-
trict Attorney.

While to outward 
appearances the alli-
ance between Mikels 
and Stout seemed intact 
after both were occu-
pying two of the most 
influential positions in 
the county, something 
nevertheless had gone 
amiss. Harvard Business 
School Graduate Joe Di-
Iorio, who had relocated 
from Orange County in 
the 1970s to make heavy 
property investments 
in and around the area 
that became Rancho Cu-
camonga and who had 
been one of the spon-
sors of the city’s 1977 
incorporation drive, ex-
perienced success with 
development projects he 
pursued. By 1990, how-
ever, the Stout-led coun-
cil rejected numerous 
efforts by DiIorio to pro-
ceed with a large-scale 
project within Rancho 
Cucamonga’s sphere of 
influence. When the en-
tity DiIorio controlled, 
the Caryn Company, as a 
result of the project delay 
began to falter, DiIorio 
became embroiled in liti-
gation with the city over 
issues related to his en-
titlement to proceed with 
the project. This created 

a technical default in 
more than $20 million 
in outstanding loans se-
cured by the property he 
was developing. As the 
project stalled and a life-
time of his profits were 
consumed by lawyers’ 
fees, a despondent DiIo-
rio, who had been one of 
Mikels’ major political 
backers, took his own 
life. This had embittered 
Mikels toward Stout.

Unaware of the fall-
ing out between Mikels 
and Stout and assuming 
they yet remained firm 
allies, Richards and Bu-
rum calculated that it 
would be in the Colonies 
Partners’ best interest to 
remove Stout from of-
fice at the same time that 
Mikels was supplanted 
from the board of su-
pervisors. They like-
wise threw their support 
behind Mike Ramos, a 
prosecutor in the district 
attorney’s office who 
challenged Stout. Like 
Biane over Mikels, Ra-
mos emerged victorious 
against Stout in the 2002 
election.

The Colonies Part-
ners’ litigation against 
the county and the flood 
control district dragged 
on. Superior Court Judge 
Peter Norell at a relative-
ly early stage made a rul-
ing in favor of the Colo-
nies Partners which held 
that the county’s flood 
control easements on the 
Colonies Partners’ prop-
erty recorded in 1933, 
1934, 1939 and 1962 had 
been abandoned through 
underuse. But the Fourth 
District Court of Appeal 
had overturned Norell, 
ruling that the county 
had unfettered ease-
ments on 31 acres and a 
right to utilize 30 further 
acres of land on the prop-
erty in question for flood 
control purposes with 

the landowner’s consent 
pursuant to terms to be 
worked out between the 
two parties.

In 2004, Jim Erwin, 
a sheriff’s deputy who 
had previously been the 
president of the Safety 
Employees Benefit As-
sociation, the union 
representing the county 
sheriff’s sworn person-
nel up to the rank of lieu-
tenant, had left the sher-
iff’s department and had 
reinvented himself as a 
self-styled political and 
management consultant. 
By 2005, he had been 
retained by the Colonies 
Partners to assist it in its 
dispute with the county 
over the Colonies at San 
Antonio residential and 
the Colonies Crossroads 
commercial subdivi-
sions.

Also in 2004, as Post-
mus was vying for re-
election, the Colonies 
Partners emerged as the 
heaviest contributors to 
his electioneering fund.

When the lawsuit the 
Colonies Partners had 
filed against the county 
went to trial before Judge 
Christopher Warner in 
2006, he ruled against 
the county, this time as-
serting the easements 
had been extinguished 
because the county had 
surcharged, i.e., over-
used, them and that cer-
tain county officials had 
defrauded the Colonies 
Partners in the arrange-
ments for the develop-
ment of the property and 
the construction of flood 
control facilities there.

Despite the verdict 
favorable to the Colo-
nies Partners in the 
bench trial held in War-
ner’s court, the county, 
based upon reports of 
improprieties relating 
to contact between and 
collusion involving the 

Colonies Partners and 
both Judge Warner and 
Judge Norell, had filed 
complaints with the 
California Commission 
on Judicial Performance 
relating to Warner and 
Norell, and was gravi-
tating toward an appeal 
with regard to Warner’s 
verdict, waiting only 
upon Warner’s yet-to-
be-delivered final ruling 
and monetary judgment 
in the case.

By then, the Colonies 
Partners were growing 
impatient with the coun-
ty’s continuing resis-
tance to its flood control 
division’s participation 
in the provision of infra-
structure to accommo-
date the Colonies at San 
Antonio and Colonies 
Crossroads projects. Of 
note was that the com-
pany’s hostility was vec-
tored less at supervisors 
Josie Gonzales and Den-
nis Hansberger, both of 
whom appeared to be 
opposed to subsidizing 
the building of the flood 
control infrastructure for 
those subdivisions alto-
gether and supportive of 
the county’s contesting 
of the lawsuit, but rath-
er toward Postmus and 
Biane, in whose politi-
cal careers the company 
had heavily invested and 
whose efforts to settle 
the ongoing litigation on 
terms favorable to the 
Colonies Partners were 
not particularly effective.

In 2006, Biane was 
obliged to stand for re-
election, but no candidate 
to oppose him emerged. 
Unchallenged, Biane put 
his efforts into sponsor-
ship of Measure P, which 
called for increasing the 
remuneration the mem-
bers of the board of su-
pervisors received from 
$99,000 in salary per 
year and $45,000 in ben-

efits to $151,000 in sal-
ary per year and roughly 
$68,000 in benefits. Bi-
ane and other support-
ers of the proposal did 
not dwell on the pay and 
benefit increases but 
rather on Measure P’s 
other provision which 
from that point forward 
would limit supervisors 
to a maximum of three 
four-year terms. Also in 
2006, Postmus was seek-
ing election as county 
assessor, running against 
incumbent Donald Wil-
liamson.

After having been 
so active as a campaign 
contributor in the 2002 
and 2004 elections, the 
Colonies Partners made 
virtually no contribu-
tions to San Bernardino 
County politicians in 
the 2006 election cycle. 
Indeed, in a show of his 
discontent with Biane, 
Burum emerged as the 
most dedicated opponent 
of Measure P. At that 
point Postmus was the 
chairman of the board 
of supervisors and the 
chairman of the San Ber-
nardino County Repub-
lican Central Commit-
tee. Biane was the vice 
chairman of the San Ber-
nardino County Board of 
Supervisors and the vice 
chairman of the San Ber-
nardino County Republi-
can Central Committee.

It was in the after-
math of Warner’s ruling, 
as the county’s lawyers 
were advising the board 
of supervisors to appeal 
it to the Fourth Appel-
late District which had 
previously established 
the easements as being 
intact, and three weeks 
to the day after the elec-
tion in which Postmus 
was elected assessor 
and Measure P passed, 
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Yekaterina Kolcheva, 
Adam Aleman, Jessie 
Flores, Mark Kirk, Ted 
Lehrer, Anthony Riley, 
Matt Knox, David El-
lis, Chris Jones, Mark 
Denny, Brian Johsz, Ed 
Graham and Peter Allen, 
more rather than less of 
whom have entangled 
themselves in political 
scandals in which the 
degree to which those in 
power exploited their au-
thority would come to be 
on display.

Homegrown in the 
San Bernardino Coun-
ty’s High Desert, Bro-
sowske graduated from 
Granite Hills High 
School in Apple Valley 
and enrolled at Victor 
Valley College, at which 
point he appears to have 
caught the political bug. 
At Victor Valley Col-
lege, he was elected to 
the Associated Student 
Body Council and Sen-
ate, serving in the post 
of parliamentarian and 
ultimately rising to the 
position of ASB vice 
president. He became 
thoroughly involved in 
campus politics at Victor 
Valley College, includ-
ing serving as a member 
of the budget committee 
and facilities committee. 
In addition, he served as 
the student representa-
tive on the Victor Val-
ley College Measure JJ 
Oversight Committee, 
which was chartered to 
monitor the expenditure 
of $297.5 million in gen-
eral obligation bonds to 
upgrade, expand, and 
construct school fa-
cilities passed by more 
than 55 percent of Vic-
tor Valley’s voters in 
November 2008. It was 
perhaps at this point that 
Brosowske became fully 
conscious of the relation-
ship between politics/
governance and money, 
and how political in-
volvement and reach can 
be converted into per-
sonal wealth.

From that point on, 
Brosowske became en-
twined in what has been 
a continual life in poli-
tics. Initially, at least, 
the brand of politics 
Brosowske embraced 

specifically was Repub-
lican politics, though he 
essentially avoided that 
wing of the Republican 
Party that was devoted to 
reducing or controlling 
the cost of government. 
Rather, he found himself 
attracted to Republican 
candidates such as Curt 
Hagman, ones who were 
willing to go along with 
the expansion of gov-
ernment that Democrats 
advocated, just as long 
as Republicans, their 
supporters and Republi-
can causes had an equal 
opportunity to cash in. 
Brosowske worked on 
a number of election or 
reelection campaigns. In 
2013, Hagman, who had 
served on the Chino Hills 
City Council as both 
a council member and 
mayor before garnering 
election to the California 
Assembly in 2008, was 
nearing the end of his 
allotted six years in the 
Assembly based on the 
term limit regulations in 
place at that time. With 
the support of then-Con-
gressman Gary Miller, 
Hagman orchestrated a 
silent coup to move then-
San Bernardino County 
Republican Party Chair-
man Robert Rego out 
of the county party’s 
top spot and assume it 
himself, gaining better 
positioning from which 
he could make a run for 
San Bernardino County 
Fourth District supervi-
sor in 2014. Once he had 
acceded to the county 
party chairmanship, 
Hagman had repeated 
contact with the then-
22-year-old Brosowske, 
who exhibited an un-
common enthusiasm 
and energetic intensity 
in his involvement on 
behalf of the party. Un-
der Hagman’s tutelage, 
Brosowske was given 
one assignment after an-
other, which he dutifully 
fulfilled, gaining Hag-
man’s confidence. Con-
sequently, Hagman hired 
Brosowske at the age of 
23 into the post of execu-
tive director of the San 
Bernardino County Re-
publican Central Com-
mittee.

Brosowske, who was 
referred to by San Ber-
nardino County party 
loyalists as “a young 
man with a plan,” proved 
less successful at rais-
ing money for the party 
than some had hoped he 
would. Nevertheless, he 
was able to demonstrate 

his value to the party by 
pushing to staff party 
headquarters from 9-to-
5 on weekdays and by 
bringing in party volun-
teers to man the office on 
weekends. He involved 
himself in eight cam-
paigns for Republican 
candidates that election 
cycle. Hagman credited 
Brosowske with guiding 
all eight of those candi-
dates to victory. Among 
those was Paul Russ, 
who in 2014 captured a 
position on the Hesperia 
City Council.

While he was in that 
executive director posi-
tion in 2016, Brosowske 
made a political move on 
his own behalf, seeking 
election to the Repub-
lican Central Commit-
tee, upon which there 
are eight allotted slots 
representing the First 
Supervisorial District, 
eight allotted slots rep-
resenting the county’s 
Second District, nine al-
lotted slots representing 
the county’s Third Dis-
trict, five allotted slots 
representing the coun-
ty’s Fourth District and 
three representing the 
county’s Fifth District. 
Brosowske was among 
eleven people who ran 
in the central commit-
tee election to represent 
the First Supervisorial 
District, including Hes-
peria councilmen Eric 
Schmidt and Paul Russ, 
Hesperia Unified School 
District Board Member 
Eric Swanson and his 
wife, Rebekah Swanson. 
Though Brosowske vig-
orously campaigned on 
behalf of them and him-
self, he had little in the 
way of name recognition 
among the electorate and 
he finished eleventh in 
the race. Unfazed by his 
temporary setback at the 
hands of Republican vot-
ers, Brosowske remained 
loyal to the party. Hag-
man, as San Bernardino 
County’s Fourth District 
Supervisor, offered Bro-
sowske a position with 
his office as an analyst. 
Brosowske, who had 
managed Paul Russ’s 
successful 2014 cam-
paign for Hesperia City 
Council, remained active 
in promoting Republican 
candidates in local races, 
including that of Re-
bekah Swanson for Hes-
peria City Council in the 
2016 race.

Despite Brosowske’s 
inability to vault elec-
torally into a position 

on the San Bernardino 
County Republican Cen-
tral Committee, there 
was a recognition among 
a core group in the lo-
cal GOP that Brosowske 
possessed the charisma, 
attitude, perseverant 
dedication and tempera-
ment the party needed in 
its leadership and elected 
officeholders to offset the 
increasing gap favoring 
the Democrats over the 
Republicans in San Ber-
nardino County in terms 
of voter registration 
numbers. Among the 
Republican Party’s cur-
rent crop of officehold-
ers including Hagman, 
a consensus had grown 
that Brosowske should 
be groomed for higher 
office, including supervi-
sor, state legislature and 
Congress.

In 2016 Moun-
tain States Consulting 
Group, a limited liability 
company which in 2013 
had been set up and reg-
istered in Wyoming by 
former San Bernardino 
County Supervisor/Re-
publican Central Com-
mittee Chairman Bill 
Postmus’s father for his 
son to use as a vehicle 
to launder political do-
nations to politicians, 
emerged as a factor in 
San Bernardino County 
politics. Bill Postmus, 
who had soared to the 
pinnacle of political 
influence in the early 
2000s until his political 
career had been derailed 
by scandal, was seeking 
to reestablish himself as 
a major political player, 
this time as a kingmaker 
behind the scene. With-
out fanfare, the com-
pany put the 25-year-old 
Brosowske to work by 
contracting with Bro-
sowske’s company, Next 
Generation Holdings 
LLC, securing for him 
his ability to support 
himself, while leaving 
him at liberty to pursue 
his political interests. By 
vectoring money flow-
ing into Mountain States 
Consulting from indi-
viduals or corporations 
with business before or 
project approvals pend-
ing with local govern-
ment to Next Generation 
Holdings, that campaign 
cash could then be dis-
tributed to politicians 
or political candidates 
without those politicians 
having to report the true 
sources of those funds, 
leaving them free to vote 
in support of those do-

nors’ projects or hiring 
their companies to pro-
vide services or goods to 
the governmental entity 
they led without having 
to answer embarrass-
ing questions. Among 
the politicians Mountain 
States/Postmus/ Next 
Generation/Brosowske 
established in this way 
was Rebekah Swanson.

In May 2018, Hespe-
ria Mayor Russ Blewett 
died. Rather than hold an 
election to fill the result-
ing vacancy until what 
would have been the end 
of Blewett’s term in De-
cember 2018, the coun-
cil, after elevating Coun-
cilman Bill Holland into 
the mayor’s position, in-
vited residents of the city 
to apply for appointment 
to fill in the council gap.

Brosowske, along 
with eight others, ap-
plied for the council po-
sition. After considering 
those applications and 
interviewing Brosowske 
and seven of the other 
applicants who were 
able to attend a special-
ly-scheduled meeting 
on the evening of July 
11, 2018, the council 
voted 3-to-1, with Paul 
Russ, Bill Holland and 
Rebekah Swanson pre-
vailing and councilman 
Larry Bird dissenting, to 
appoint Brosowske.

Less than four months 
later, the 27-year-old 
Brosowske ran for elec-
tion in Hesperia’s newly-
formed District Four in 
what was the first by-dis-
trict election in the City 
of Hesperia’s then-30-
year history, capturing 
that position on his own, 
helped, of course, by his 
status as an incumbent 
councilman.

With his first actual 
electoral victory under 
his belt, Brosowske was 
seen as finally progress-
ing toward the elected 
political status Republi-
cans in the inner sanc-
tum felt he deserved and 
was destined to, such 
that he would be a can-
didate – depending on 
First District Supervi-
sor Robert Lovingood’s 
then-presumed pending 
determination as to his 
political future – for ei-
ther supervisor or assem-
blyman in 2020, assem-
blyman or congressman 
in 2022, congressman 
most certainly by 2024, 
and California governor 
in 2026.

Brosowske was at that 
point valued for what 

he could do in assisting 
other Republican can-
didates. In the spring of 
2019, Republicans and 
Democrats alike were 
looking with anticipa-
tion toward 2020, when 
Democrat Josie Gonza-
les’s 16-year run as su-
pervisor in the county’s 
Fifth District was set to 
end as the term limits 
put into place by the vot-
ers’ passage of Measure 
P in 2006 would neces-
sitate that she vacate her 
position. Among those 
contemplated as poten-
tial Republicans to fill 
that void were West Val-
ley Water Board Mem-
ber Clifford Young and 
Fontana City Council-
man Jesse Armendarez. 
Young had occupied the 
Fifth District supervi-
sor’s position for roughly 
a year in an appointed 
capacity just prior to 
Gonzales succeeding 
him after he was cho-
sen to replace former 
Supervisor Jerry Eaves, 
a Democrat, whose con-
viction on political cor-
ruption charges in 2003 
required that he resign 
the post. Armendarez is 
a member of the Repub-
lican ruling coalition on 
the Fontana City Council 
led by Mayor Acquanetta 
Warren. Warren has, de-
spite her GOP affiliation, 
managed to maintain 
her political primacy in 
overwhelmingly Demo-
crat Fontana through ag-
gressive electioneering 
efforts, including ones 
in which Brosowske had 
assisted. Brosowske had 
previously established 
a close friendship and 
strong working relation-
ship with Almendarez, 
assisting him in 2016 
when Armendarez, then 
a member of the Fontana 
School Board, had de-
feated incumbent Coun-
cilwoman Lydia Salazar-
Wibert in a close race.

In March 2019, Phil 
Cothran, who is closely 
aligned with Warren, 
made a phone call to 
Clifford Young. Cothran 
advocated strongly on 
behalf of Brosowske, 
suggesting the water dis-
trict hire him. Clifford 
Young, who had consis-
tently been opposed to 
hiring Brosowske, was 
conscious that the push 
to hire Brosowske was 
coming less from War-
ren and more from Arm-
endarez and Cothran. It 
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that Postmus, Biane and 
then-Fourth District 
Supervisor Gary Ovitt 
voted to settle the case 
for a $102 million payout 
to the Colonies Partners. 
Then-Supervisor Dennis 
Hansberger and Super-
visor Josie Gonzales op-
posed making the settle-
ment.

Following the settle-
ment, between March 
2007 and the end of June 
2007, Postmus, Erwin 
and Gary Ovitt’s chief 
of staff, Mark Kirk, all 
established political ac-
tion committees. In that 
same time frame, Burum 
and his brother Phil, cut 
two separate $100,000 
checks from the Colo-
nes Partners’ account 
to the newly-created 
political action commit-
tees set up by Erwin and 
Kirk; wrote two sepa-
rate $50,000 checks to 
the political action com-
mittees established by 
Postmus; and provided 
another $100,000 check 
to a previously existing 
political action commit-
tee that had been set up 
by Biane’s chief of staff, 
Matt Brown, and over 
which both Biane and 
Brown had control.

Upon taking office as 
assessor, Postmus creat-
ed two assistant assessor 
positions, whereas previ-
ously under his prede-
cessor Don Williamson 
there had been a single 
assistant assessor post. 
He filled those positions 
with Erwin, who had no 

previous experience in 
assessing property for 
tax purposes, and Adam 
Aleman, a 22-year-old 
field representative from 
his supervisor’s office, 
who had no experience 
in real estate or assess-
ing property for tax pur-
poses. Erwin, who had 
differences with Postmus 
that manifested within 
six months, left the as-
sistant assessor’s posi-
tion in October 2007. 
In 2008, Erwin went 
to work as the chief of 
staff to Neil Derry, who 
had been elected Third 
District San Bernardino 
County supervisor that 
year.

By late 2008, Post-
mus, while serving as as-
sessor, had slipped into 
the morass of scandal, 
with word reaching the 
public that more than ten 
of his employees in the 
assessor’s office were en-
gage in partisan political 
activity, utilizing county 
equipment and assets in 
doing so while function-
ing from county offices, 
and that he was in the 
throes of drug addiction.

After his election in 
2002, Ramos had served 
four years without dis-
tinction or major event, 
and was not challenged 
in the 2006 election. At 
that point, as one of the 
county’s leading Re-
publicans,  Ramos had 
emerged as the tentative 
replacement candidate in 
2008 for then-Congress-
man Jerry Lewis, who 
was serving in the heav-
ily Republican 41st Con-
gressional District and 
was one of Ramos’s clos-
est political associates.

In 2007, it became 
widely known that the 
FBI and the US Attor-
ney’s Office were carry-
ing out an investigation 
into Congressman Lew-
is’s relationship with the 

Copeland Lowery Jac-
qeez Denton & White 
lobbying firm, headed 
by Lewis ally and for-
mer Congressman Bill 
Lowery. Lowery and his 
firm had provided Lew-
is’s campaign fund or 
his political action com-
mittee either directly or 
through the firm’s clients 
hundreds of thousands of 
dollars while Lewis, by 
means of what was then 
his chairmanship of the 
House Appropriations 
Committee and his pri-
or chairmanship of the 
Defense Appropriations 
Subcommittee, steered 
approaching one billion 
dollars in contracts to 
clients of Lowery’s firm 
through earmarks and 
other legislative meth-
ods. In addition, the 
investigation dwelt on 
two members of Lewis’s 
staff, Letitia White and 
Jeff Schockey, going to 
work for Lowery’s lob-
bying firm, earning mil-
lions of dollars each, as 
well as Lewis earmark-
ing $2.75 million for the 
“Barracks Row” area of 
Capital Hill in Washing-
ton, D.C., where Lewis 
and his wife, who was 
also his chief of staff, 
owned a three-bedroom 
home valued at $943,000.

In 2008, with the in-
vestigation still going 
full-bore against him, 
Lewis decided surren-
dering the leverage and 
advantage being a mem-
ber of Congress and 
either the chairman or 
ranking member of the 
Appropriations Commit-
tee represented would 
be unwise, and he did 
not leave Congress and 
endorse Ramos as was 
earlier planned. As the 
investigation contin-
ued for another three 
years thereafter, Lewis 
ran in 2008 and again 
in 2010. He spent over 
$2.3 million out of his 
electioneering fund hir-
ing defense attorneys to 
represent him in the face 
of the federal investiga-
tion. He did not leave of-
fice until 2013, at which 
time the investigation 
was concluded, and he 
did not seek reelection in 
2012.

His congressional 
ambition thwarted in 
2008 and again in 2010, 
Ramos was faced with 
having to seek reelec-
tion as district attorney 
in 2010, at which point 
two opponents declared 
against him. Having 
spent more than seven 

years in office with few 
accomplishments in that 
time, he latched onto is-
sues relating to Postmus 
and the Colonies Part-
ners lawsuit settlement 
as a means of generat-
ing publicity to assist in 
his reelection effort that 
year.

Joining with then-Cal-
ifornia Attorney General 
Edmund G. Brown Jr, 
Ramos filed criminal 
charges against Postmus 
and Erwin in February 
2010, alleging the two 
$50,000 payments to 
Postmus’ political action 
committees were bribes 
in return for his vote to 
approve the $102 million 
settlement, and that the 
$100,000 paid to Erwin’s 
political action commit-
tee was provided to him 
as payment for his il-
legal action in inducing 
both Postmus and Biane 
to support the $102 mil-
lion settlement. Working 
on behalf of the Colonies 
Partners, according to 
the prosecutors, Erwin 
put together political 
mailers depicting Post-
mus as a drug addict and 
homosexual and then 
withheld them in order 
to blackmail him into 
voting for the settlement, 
and Erwin also created 
another set of mailers 
exposing Biane as teeter-
ing on the brink of bank-
ruptcy and incapable of 
managing his own finan-
cial affairs, such that he 
was miscast in the role 
of a member of the board 
of supervisors oversee-
ing the county’s multi-
billion annual budget.

The complaint alleged 
the November 2006 votes 
to approve the $102 mil-
lion settlement were ob-
tained as part of a broad 
conspiracy that involved 
five other uncharged 
and unnamed conspira-
tors, though the identi-
ties of the five could be 
surmised from descrip-
tions of their capacities 
and their actions, those 
being Biane, Richards, 
Burum, Kirk and Patrick 
O’Reilly, a public rela-
tions consultant who had 
worked for the Colonies 
Partners.

Both Postmus and Er-
win pleaded not guilty to 
the charges.

Thirteen months later, 
however, in March 2011, 
Postmus, who was also 
facing charges stemming 
from his abuse of au-
thority while serving in 
the capacity of assessor, 
pleaded guilty to four-

teen felony political cor-
ruption charges which 
included bribery, mis-
appropriation of public 
funds, criminal conspir-
acy, public office conflict 
of interest, and perjury, 
along with a single count 
of misdemeanor drug 
possession. He agreed to 
turn state’s evidence and 
testify against all of the 
others involved, and co-
operate with the investi-
gation of the matter and 
the prosecution. In the 
same time-frame, Adam 
Aleman, Postmus’s one-
time field representative 
when he was supervisor 
who had been elevated 
to assistant assessor, had 
been charged criminally 
as well, pleading to four 
felonies and agreeing to 
cooperate in the matter. 
As someone who was 
a member of Postmus’s 
staff in 2006 when he 
was supervisor, Aleman 
was able to shed light 
on a number of issues 
with regard to the settle-
ment. Another member 
of Postmus’s staff at the 
assessor’s office was 
Greg Eyler, who like-
wise pleaded guilty and 
agreed to cooperate in 
the investigation. Post-
mus was the star wit-
ness before a grand jury 
that was impaneled and 
heard testimony in April 
2011. Aleman, as well, 
gave extensive testimony 
before that body, which 
returned, in May 2011, 
a 29-count indictment 
prepared by the Califor-
nia Attorney General’s 
Office and the San Ber-
nardino County District 
Attorney’s Office, super-
seding the charges that 
had been filed against 
Erwin the prior year. In 
addition to Erwin, the in-
dictment further named 
Biane, Burum and Kirk, 
describing the overt acts 
in which they were alleg-
edly involved.

There was a difficul-
ty with the indictment 
from the outset in that 
nearly four years had 
elapsed since the last 
of the acts alleged in it, 
and more than four years 
had passed since some 
of the alleged offenses. 
As a consequence, some 
of the charges used less 
than straightforward lan-
guage, indeed tortuous 
wording, in an effort to 
get around the statute of 
limitations, which with 
regard to most of the 
offenses stood at three 
years.

For example, the co-

conspirators were not 
charged with bribery but 
rather, variously, aiding 
and abetting Postmus 
and Biane in receiving 
and agreeing to receive 
a bribe, or in the case 
of Biane, receiving and 
agreeing to receive a 
bribe to influence a vote.

The prosecution also 
pursued a somewhat el-
liptical charging theory, 
alleging that the stat-
ute had not begun to 
run until investigators 
for the district attor-
ney’s office learned of 
the extortion and brib-
ery scheme from Adam 
Aleman during an in-
terview/interrogation of 
him in November 2008. 
That was, in itself, a pre-
varication, as a group of 
Upland residents, call-
ing itself Taxpayers For 
Fair Resolution, which 
had misgivings about the 
tactics being used by the 
Colonies Partners and its 
legal team during their 
legal wrangling with the 
county over the Colonies 
project, had approached 
the district attorney’s of-
fice and Ramos himself 
directly at the time of 
the $102 million settle-
ment to allege it had 
been tainted by illicit 
inducements including 
bribes and kickbacks. 
Contained in the indict-
ment were charges of 
conspiracy; aiding and 
abetting Postmus and 
Biane in agreeing to re-
ceive a bribe to influence 
a vote, alternately under 
Penal Code Section 165 
and under Penal Code 
Section 68; agreeing to 
receive a bribe to influ-
ence a vote, alternately 
under Penal Code Sec-
tion 165 and under Pe-
nal Code Section 68; a 
violation of Government 
Code Section 9054, ob-
taining a thing of value 
to improperly influence 
a public official; violat-
ing Penal Code Section 
182, obtaining money by 
false pretenses; violat-
ing Government Code 
Section 1090, engaging 
in a conflict of interest; 
violating Penal Code 
Section 424, misappro-
priation of public funds; 
tax fraud; tax evasion; 
perjury; and forgery.

Furthermore, the in-
dictment did not crimi-
nally charge either 
O’Reilly or Richards, 
who had been, like Bu-
rum, Biane and Kirk, 
described as uncharged 
co-conspirators in the 

park. In 2015, the town 
repealed the 300-foot 
restriction, based on le-
gal determinations that 
such local restrictions 
on where paroled sex of-
fenders could live were 
preempted by state law. 
The town in 2017 re-
vised the ordinance in 
accordance with a court 
decision that the 2,000-
foot residency restriction 
only applied to sex of-
fenders while they are on 

parole.
Bellucci’s suit has 

spooked the council. In 
a report dated April 16, 
Town Attorney Thomas 
Jex wrote, “Recent case 
law has called into ques-
tion the constitutionality 
of blanket sex offender 
residency restrictions 
under Penal Code Sec-
tion 3003.5(c) and local 
ordinances.”

To head off the possi-
bility of the town having 
to pay Bellucci substan-
tial legal fees, the coun-
cil voted 5-to-0 to jetti-
son the ordinance.

-Mark Gutglueck

Town Rescinds 
Ordinance from front 
page 
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was a delicate matter, as 
Armendarez recognized 
that if Brosowske could 
function from the com-
fort of a decent-paying 
job requiring little work, 
he would be free to de-
vote the attention needed 
to an intensive campaign 
that was needed to get 
Armendarez elected to 
the Fifth District super-
visor’s post. Since Young 
himself had designs on 
the Fifth District super-
visor’s slot, Brosowske’s 
work for Armendarez 
was not explicitly dealt 
with during the conver-
sation.

At that time, the for-
merly close political af-
filiation between Young 
and the other leading fig-
ure on the West Valley 
Water Board, Michael 
Taylor, had ended, and 
an intense rivalry be-
tween the two had devel-
oped. Taylor, a Repub-
lican, saw potential in 
having a political opera-
tive such as Brosowske 
on the West Valley staff. 
In May 2019, West Val-
ley Water District Gen-
eral Manager Clarence 
Mansell, assured that 
Taylor and board mem-
bers Kyle Crowther and 
Don Olinger supported 
the move, provided Bro-
sowske with a contract to 
serve as the district’s as-
sistant general manager 
at an annual salary of 
$189,592 along with ben-
efits and add-ons valued 
at over $62,000 per year.

Brosowske had no 
experience, no training, 
held no certificates or 
licenses, and possessed 
no expertise in water op-
erations or public agency 
administration or man-
agement.

Word spread imme-
diately that Brosowke’s 
hiring into the post rep-
resented a tangible pay-
off in exchange for a vote 
or votes Brosowske had 
made or was expected 
to make in his position 
and capacity as a council 
member in Hesperia, or 
in exchange for political-
ly-based services he was 
to render in the future. In 
the face of the firestorm 
of controversy engen-
dered by Brosowske’s 

hiring, those responsible 
for the action, including 
Mansell, then-Assistant 
General Manager Ricar-
do Pacheco, then-Human 
Resources Director/Risk 
Manager Deborah Mar-
tinez, Taylor, who was 
then the board president, 
board members Clifford 
Young, Don Olinger, 
Kyle Crowther and Greg 
Young (no blood relation 
to Clifford Young) hun-
kered into a crouch and 
refused to field public or 
press inquiries relating 
to the hiring.

Of issue in the con-
troversy was that the 
position Brosowske was 
given was a political si-
necure, an essentially 
do-nothing job. His as-
signment as assistant 
general manager was 
vague under the terms of 
his employment agree-
ment and, with the leave 
of Mansel, he was free to 
come and go as he chose. 
Though the employment 
agreement referenced 
“certain services,” no-
where in the contract 
were those services or 
his duties specified or 
explained.

“[The] district desires 
to engage the services 
of Mr. Brosowske as an 
assistant general man-
ager of the district,” the 
agreement stated. “Mr. 
Brosowske represents 
and warrants that he has 
the skill and ability to 
serve as assistant gen-
eral manager and wishes 
to accept such employ-
ment. Mr. Brosowske 
shall render certain ser-
vices to [the] district as 
assistant general manag-
er. Mr. Brosowske shall 
be an assistant general 
manager of the district 
and shall report to the 
general manager and 
perform such duties and 
services as shall be nec-
essary and advisable to 
manage and conduct the 
business of the district, 
subject at all times to 
all applicable law(s) and 
board decisions, as well 
as the consent, approv-
al and direction of the 
board. Mr. Brosowske 
will devote his full time 
and attention to the per-
formance of his duties 
and to district business 
affairs. Mr. Brosowske 
shall report to the gener-
al manager and district’s 
offices for work under 
one of the district’s ap-
proved work schedules 
and at such other times 
as may be necessary 

to discharge his duties, 
except when away on 
district business, or as 
otherwise excused such 
as vacations and holi-
days. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, Mr. Bro-
sowske agrees that he 
will report to work when 
necessary to district’s 
operations, regardless 
of regularly scheduled 
hours to the extent such 
attendance is reasonably 
possible. Mr. Brosowske 
may devote a reasonable 
amount of time to pro-
fessional water district 
and community related 
activities, so long as the 
time devoted to these 
other activities does not 
interfere with the per-
formance of his duties 
to the district. Participa-
tion at those professional 
and other organizational 
activities will be subject 
to review and approval 
by the general manager. 
This agreement shall in 
no way be interpreted 
as prohibiting Mr. Bro-
sowske from making 
passive personal invest-
ments and/or attending 
to such other personal 
business affairs, pro-
vided that such personal 
investments and/or pri-
vate business affairs in 
no way interferes and/
or conflicts with his du-
ties and responsibilities 
as assistant general man-
ager and/or the needs 
and best interests of the 
district.”

The agreement speci-
fied a six-month pro-
bationary period for 
Brosowske, who was 
designated an “at-will” 
employee. Under the 
agreement, if he were to 
be terminated with cause 
cited, he was to be pro-
vided no severance sti-
pend. If terminated with-
out cause cited, he was 
entitled to a severance 
stipend equal to three to 
six months salary.  The 
agreement called for 
the district supplying 
Brosowske with a cell 
phone, laptop computer, 
iPad, either a district ve-
hicle or $600 per month 
vehicle allowance, holi-
day and vacation pay, 
sick leave, life insurance, 
medical coverage, dental 
coverage, vision cover-
age, travel expenses, and 
educational and/or tu-
ition reimbursement up 
to $5,000 annually.

Meanwhile, in Hes-
peria, a move to recall 
Bill Holland, who had 
been instrumental in 

Brosowske’s original 
appointment to the city 
council which had led to 
Brosowske being prop-
erly positioned to gain 
election to the council 
in his own right in 2018, 
developed, sponsored 
by individuals who had 
bankrolled Postmus, 
Mountain States Con-
sulting, Next Generation 
Holdings and Brosowske 
during the effort to rees-
tablish Postmus as a vi-
able political force and to 
actuate Brosowske as an 
officeholder. When Bro-
sowske declined to stand 
up to defend Holland 
against the recall, that 
put him in Dutch with 
a majority of the city 
council, which no longer 
counted Russ among its 
members after his de-
feat in the 2018 election. 
Moreover, revelations 
that a substantial amount 
of the money that had 
passed into the hands 
of Postmus/Mountain 
States/Brosowske/Next 
Generation and then into 
various political cam-
paigns had originated 
with entities seeking to 
establish cannabis-relat-
ed business operations 
in Hesperia and else-
where resonated poorly 
with a large segment of 
the Hesperia popula-
tion, which looked down 
upon the liberalization 
of regulations relating to 
marijuana in California, 
and were still hoping to 
stem the pro-cannabis 
tide and keep such busi-
nesses from being estab-
lished in their city. They 
wanted to keep the drug, 
which previous to 2016 
was legally available in 
California only for medi-
cal use but which can 
now be with the assent 
of local authorities sold 
locally for its intoxica-
tive effect or recreational 
use, from flooding their 
streets. In Hesperia, one 
of the six of San Ber-
nardino County munici-
palities where Republi-
cans yet outnumbered 
Democrats, that was not 
a popular, or relatively 
popular, stance. Bro-
sowske then committed 
what is best described as 
an inexplicably contrar-
ian faux-pas: After hav-
ing established himself 
as a Republican whose 
political future was 
closely identified with 
the GOP, he announced 
when he was questioned 
about the marijuana is-
sue that he was not actu-

ally a Republican, but a 
libertarian who believed 
marijuana should be ac-
cepted as a staple of, 
if not American, then 
California, life. Like 
Jesus Christ, who had 
been triumphantly wel-
comed into Jerusalem on 
Palm Sunday only to be 
scourged and crucified 
the following Friday, 
Jeremiah Brosowske had 
been accoladed with the 
Hesperia City Council’s 
acceptance of him among 
their ranks by appoint-
ment in 2018 followed 
by the honorific of being 
elected to the council by 
the residents of the city’s 
Second District later 
that year, only to be re-
moved from office by the 
city council in 2019. On 
September 3, 2019, the 
city council, acting on 
reports that Brosowske 
was not regularly liv-
ing in his apartment at 
16784 Sultana Street in 
Hesperia, sleeping there 
only on the evenings of 
the first and third Tues-
days of each month and 
otherwise cohabiting at 
all other times with his 
girlfriend in Rancho Cu-
camonga, voted 3-to-2 to 
remove him as the city’s 
District Four council-
member. The only votes 
against doing so were 
Brosowske’s own and 
that of Rebekah Swan-
son.

Brosowske went 
down swinging on Sep-
tember 3, having hired 
Chad Morgan, one of 
California’s leading at-
torneys with regard to 
the quo warranto process 
relating to the removal 
of elected officials from 
office, to represent him. 
Thereafter, he essential-
ly peaceably accepted 
what the city council had 
done to him, acquiesc-
ing in not attending the 
meetings and resigning 
himself to the council 
appointing the woman 
he had defeated in the 
November 2018 elec-
tion, Brigit Bennington, 
to replace him. He yet 
awaits the quo warranto 
application that could 
potentially restore him 
to the council to play out 
at with the California At-
torney General’s office.

Brosowske’s once 
grandiose political fu-
ture had hit a snag. 
Nevertheless, in Rialto, 
he carried on as best he 
could. To pay the debt 
he owed for having been 
given a quarter-of-a-mil-

lion-dollar-per-year-all-
told position he was not 
truly qualified to hold, he 
found himself engaged in 
September and then Oc-
tober in an effort to assist 
Michael Taylor, who was 
locked in a bitter power 
struggle with Clifford 
Young for the control of 
the district. The district 
holds its elections in 
November of odd-num-
bered years. Though the 
district, which includes 
a significant portion of 
Rialto, a swathe of Fon-
tana, all of Bloomington, 
a small slice of Colton 
and a strip of unincorpo-
rated northern Riverside 
County, is saturated with 
Democratic voters, four 
of its five board members 
before the election were 
Republicans. Now, after 
the election, the Republi-
cans yet hold that 4-to-1 
advantage. Three posi-
tions on the board were 
up for election in Novem-
ber. One of those was 
held by Kyle Crowther 
of Fontana, a Republican 
who was aligned with 
Taylor. Another position 
being contested was that 
held by Don Olinger, 
the board’s only Demo-
crat, who had previous-
ly been isolated on the 
board against his four 
Republican colleagues, 
but who had aligned 
himself with Taylor and 
Crowther when the split 
among the Republicans 
had manifested in 2018. 
The other district post up 
for grabs in November 
2019 was that one held 
by Greg Young, a Re-
publican first elected to 
the board in 2015, who 
had remained affiliated 
with Clifford Young. 
Taylor’s objective in the 
November 2019 elec-
tion was to see to it that 
Crowther and Olinger 
remained in place and 
that Greg Young was 
voted out of office. Bro-
sowske was naturally in 
Crowther’s camp based 
upon Crowther’s affinity 
for Brosowske’s friend 
Almendarez. Brosowske 
was thus primed to assist 
Taylor in at the very least 
maintaining his tenuous 
3-to-2 hold on the board 
or, better, ousting Greg 
Young and replacing 
him with the candidate 
Taylor had succeeded in 
finding to challenge Greg 
Young, Angel Ramirez. 
Ramirez ran campaigns 
and election activities 
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FICTITIOUS BUSINESS 

NAME
STATEMENT FILE NO-

20200003100
The following person(s) is(are) 

doing business as: VR Interpreter 
Services, 2928 Poplar Circle, Rialto, 
CA 92376, Victor Rojas, 2928 Poplar 
Circle, Rialto, CA 92376

Business is Conducted By: An 
Individual  

Signed: BY SIGNING BELOW, 
I DECLARE THAT ALL INFOR-
MATION IN THIS STATEMENT 
IS TRUE AND CORRECT. A reg-
istrant who declares as true infor-
mation, which he or she knows to 
be false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P 
Code 17913) I am also aware that 
all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing.

s/ Victor Rojas  
This statement was filed with 

the County Clerk of San Bernardino 
on: 3/6/20

I hereby certify that this is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office.

Began Transacting Business: 
1/31/20

NOTICE- This fictitious busi-
ness name statement expires five 
years from the date it was filed in 
the office of the county clerk. A new 
fictitious business name statement 
must be filed before that time. The 
filing of this statement does not of 
itself authorize the use in this state 
of a fictitious name in violation of 
the rights of another under federal, 
state, or common law (see section 
14400 et. Seq. Business & Profes-
sions Code).

4/3/20, 4/10/20, 4/17/20, 4/24/20
 

FICTITIOUS BUSINESS 
NAME STATEMENT FILE 
NO20200001756 The following 
person(s) is(are) doing business 
as: Top Team Photography, 1221 
N Vineyard Apt 40, Ontario, CA 
91764, Albert J. Martinez, 1221 N 
Vineyard 40, Ontario, CA 91764, 
Geovanni Y. Gomez, 7450 Crescent 
Ave 217, Buena Park, CA 90620 
Business is Conducted By: A Gener-
al Partnership Signed: BY SIGNING 
BELOW, I DECLARE THAT ALL 
INFORMATION IN THIS STATE-
MENT IS TRUE AND CORRECT. 
A registrant who declares as true 
information, which he or she knows 
to be false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P 
Code 17913) I am also aware that all 
information on this statement be-
comes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ Albert Martinez This statement 
was filed with the County Clerk of 
San Bernardino on: 2/7/20 I hereby 
certify that this is a correct copy of 
the original statement on file in my 
office. Began Transacting Business: 
2/7/20 County Clerk, s/ D5511 NO-
TICE- This fictitious business name 
statement expires five years from the 
date it was filed in the office of the 
county clerk. A new fictitious busi-
ness name statement must be filed 
before that time. The filing of this 
statement does not of itself autho-
rize the use in this state of a ficti-
tious name in violation of the rights 
of another under federal, state, or 
common law (see section 14400 et. 
Seq. Business & Professions Code). 
2/21/20, 2/28/20, 3/6/20, 3/13/20 
Corrected on: 4/3/20, 4/10/20, 
4/17/20, 4/24/20

 

FBN 20200001606 The fol-
lowing entity is doing business as: 
GAMESTOP 7818 411 MONTAR-
RA ROAD, SUITE 106 BARSTOW, 
CA 92311 GAMESTOP, INC. 625 
WESTPORT PARKWAY GRAPE-
VINE, TX 76051 Mailing Address: 
625 WESTPORT PARKWAY 
GRAPEVINE TX 76501 A Min-
nesota Corporation C1969245 This 
Business is Conducted By: A COR-
PORATION Signed: BY SIGNING 
BELOW, I DECLARE THAT ALL 
INFORMATION IN THIS STATE-
MENT IS TRUE AND CORRECT. 
A registrant who declares as true 
information, which he or she knows 
to be false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P 
Code 17913) I am also aware that all 
information on this statement be-
comes Public Record upon filing. 
S/ James A. Bell This statement was 
filed with the County Clerk of San 
Bernardino on: 2/05/2020 I hereby 
certify that this is a correct copy of 
the original statement on file in my 
office. Began Transacting Business: 
N/A County Clerk, Deputy NO-
TICE- This fictitious business name 
statement expires five years from the 
date it was filed in the office of the 
county clerk. A new fictitious busi-
ness name statement must be filed 
before that time. The filing of this 
statement does not of itself authorize 
the use in this state of a fictitious 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see section 14400 et. Seq. 
Business & Professions Code). Pub-
lished in the San Bernardino County 
Sentinel on 2/21 & 2/28, 3/06 & 3/13, 
2020. Corrected on: 4/3/20, 4/10/20, 
4/17/20, 4/24/20

 

FBN 20190014933

The following person is doing 
business as: JS HOBBIES 999 N. 
WATERMAN   SAN BERNARDI-
NO, CA  92410    999 N. WATER-
MAN   SAN BERNARDINO, CA  
92410

This Business is Conducted 
By: AN INDIVIDUAL

Signed: BY SIGNING BE-
LOW, I DECLARE THAT ALL 
INFORMATION IN THIS 
STATEMENT IS TRUE AND 
CORRECT. A registrant who de-
clares as true information, which 
he or she knows to be false, is 
guilty of a crime. (B&P Code 
17913) I am also aware that all 
information on this statement be-
comes Public Record upon filing.

S/ JAMAL THOMAS
This statement was filed with 

the County Clerk of San Bernardi-
no on: 12/27/2019

I hereby certify that this is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office.

Began Transacting Business: 
12/02/2004

County Clerk, Deputy
NOTICE- This fictitious busi-

ness name statement expires five 
years from the date it was filed 
in the office of the county clerk. 
A new fictitious business name 
statement must be filed before that 
time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious name in 
violation of the rights of another 
under federal, state, or common 
law (see section 14400 et. Seq. 
Business & Professions Code).

Published in the San Ber-
nardino County Sentinel on 1/24, 
1/31, 2/7 & 2/14, 2020. Corrected 
on 4/3/20, 4/10/20, 4/17/20, 4/24/20

APN: 1090-512-19-0-000 
T.S. No.: 2019-2390 Order 
No.:1419741CAD NOTICE 
OF TRUSTEE’S SALE YOU 
ARE IN DEFAULT UNDER 
A DEED OF TRUST DATED 
3/26/2019. UNLESS YOU 
TAKE ACTION TO PRO-
TECT YOUR PROPERTY, IT 
MAY BE SOLD AT A PUB-
LIC SALE. IF YOU NEED 
AN EXPLANATION OF THE 
NATURE OF THE PRO-
CEEDING AGAINST YOU, 
YOU SHOULD CONTACT A 
LAWYER. Will sell at a pub-
lic auction sale to the highest 
bidder, payable at the time of 
sale in lawful money of the 
united states, by a cashier’s 
check drawn on a state of na-
tional bank, check drawn by 
a state or federal credit union, 
or a check drawn by a state or 
federal savings and loan asso-
ciation, or savings association, 
or savings bank specified in 
Section 5102 of the Financial 
Code and authorized to do busi-
ness in this state will be held by 
the duly appointed trustee as 
shown below, of all right, title, 
and interest conveyed to and 
now held by the trustee in the 
hereinafter described property 
under and pursuant to a Deed of 
Trust described below. The sale 
will be made, but without cov-
enant or warranty, express or 
implied, regarding title, posses-
sion, or encumbrances, to pay 
the remaining principal sum of 
the note(s) secured by the Deed 
of Trust, with interest and late 
charges thereon, as provided 
in the note(s), advances, under 
the terms of the Deed of Trust, 
interest thereon, fees, charges, 
and expenses of the Trustee for 
the total amount (at the time 
of the initial publication of the 
Notice of Sale) reasonably es-
timated to be set forth below. 
The amount may be greater on 
the day of sale. Trustor: En-
rique Alvaro, Jr. A Single Man. 
Duly Appointed Trustee: S.B.S. 
TRUST DEED NETWORK, A 
CALIFORNIA CORPORA-
TION Deed of Trust recorded 
3/29/2019, as Instrument No. 
2019-0097035 in book XX, 
page, XX of Official Records in 
the office of the Recorder of San 
Bernardino County, California. 
Date of Sale: 5/4/2020 at 1:00 
PM Place of Sale: NEAR THE 
FRONT STEPS LEADING UP 
TO THE CITY OF CHINO 
CIVIC CENTER, 13220 CEN-
TRAL AVENUE, CHINO, 
CA 91710 Amount of unpaid 
balance and other reasonable 
estimated charges: $70,512.34 
Street Address or other com-
mon designation of real prop-
erty: 12883 Silver Rose Court 
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91739 
A.P.N.: 1090-512-19-0-000. 

The undersigned Trustee dis-
claims any liability for any 
incorrectness of the street ad-
dress or other common desig-
nation, if any, shown above. 
If no street address or other 
common designation is shown, 
directions to the location of the 
property may be obtained by 
sending a written request to the 
beneficiary within 10 days of 
the date of first publication of 
this Notice of Sale. NOTICE 
TO POTENTIAL BIDDERS: If 
you are considering bidding on 
this property lien, you should 
understand that there are risks 
involved in bidding at a trustee 
auction. You will be bidding 
on a lien, not on the property 
itself. Placing the highest bid at 
a trustee auction does not auto-
matically entitle you to free and 
clear ownership of the property. 
You should also be aware that 
the lien being auctioned off may 
be a junior lien. If you are the 
highest bidder at the auction, 
you are or may be responsible 
for paying off all liens senior to 
the lien being auctioned off, be-
fore you can receive clear title 
to the property. You are encour-
aged to investigate the exis-
tence, priority, and size of out-
standing liens that may exist on 
this property by contacting the 
county recorder’s office or a ti-
tle insurance company, either of 
which may charge you a fee for 
this information. If you consult 
either of these resources, you 
should be aware that the same 
lender may hold more than one 
mortgage or deed of trust on the 
property. NOTICE TO PROP-
ERTY OWNER: The sale date 
shown on this notice of sale 
may be postponed one or more 
times by the mortgagee, benefi-
ciary, trustee, or a court, pur-
suant to Section 2924g of the 
California Civil Code. The law 
requires that information about 
trustee sale postponements 
be made available to you and 
to the public, as a courtesy to 
those not present at the sale. If 
you wish to learn whether your 
sale date has been postponed, 
and, if applicable, the resched-
uled time and date for the sale 
of this property, you may call 
FOR SALES INFORMATION, 
PLEASE CALL (855)986-
9342, or visit this Internet Web 
site www.superiordefault.com 
using the file number assigned 
to this case 2019-2390. Infor-
mation about postponements 
that are very short in duration 
or that occur close in time to the 
scheduled sale may not imme-
diately be reflected in the tele-
phone information or on the In-
ternet Web site. The best way to 
verify postponement informa-
tion is to attend the scheduled 
sale. Date: 3/24/2020. S.B.S. 
TRUST DEED NETWORK, 
A CALIFORNIA CORPORA-
TION. 31194 La Baya Drive, 
Suite 106, Westlake Village, 
California, 91362 (818)991-
4600. By: Colleen Irby, Trustee 
Sale Officer. WE ARE AT-
TEMPTING TO COLLECT A 
DEBT, AND ANY INFORMA-
TION WE OBTAIN WILL BE 
USED FOR THAT PURPOSE. 
(04/10/20, 04/17/20, 04/20/20 
TS# 2019-2390 SDI-18032)

 
SUMMONS – (CITACION 

JUDICIAL) 
CASE NUMBER 

(NUMERO DEL CASO) 
CIVDS1932490

NOTICE TO DEFEN-
DANT (AVISO DEMANDA-
DO): CHARLES PRESLEY; 
SHARLEENA PRESLEY; 
AND DOES 1 TO 10, INCLU-
SIVE, 

YOU ARE BEING SUED 
BY PLAINTIFF (LO ESTA 
DEMANDANDO EL DE-
MANDANTE):

VETERAN SECURITY 
NOTICE! You have been 

sued. The court may decide 
against you without your be-
ing heard unless you respond 
within 30 days. Read the infor-
mation below.

   You have 30 CALENDAR 
DAYS after this summons is 
served on you to file a written 
response at this court and have 
a copy served on the plaintiff. A 
letter or phone call will not pro-
tect you. Your written response 

must be in proper legal form 
if you want the court to hear 
your case. There may be a court 
form that you can use for your 
response. You can find these 
court forms and more informa-
tion at the California Courts 
Online Self-Help Center (www.
cour t in fo.ca .gov/sel f help), 
your county law library, or the 
courthouse nearest you. If you 
cannot pay the filing fee, ask 
the court clerk for a fee waiver 
form. If you do not file your re-
sponse on time, you may lose 
the case by default, and your 
wages, money, and property 
may be taken without further 
warning from the court. 

   There are other legal re-
quirements. You may want to 
call an attorney right away. If 
you do not know an attorney, 
you may want to call an at-
torney referral service. If you 
cannot afford an attorney, you 
may be eligible for free legal 
services from a nonprofit legal 
services program. You can lo-
cate these nonprofit groups at 
the California Legal Services 
Web site (www.lawhelpcalifor-
nia.org), the California Courts 
Online Self-Help Center (www.
courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), or 
by contacting your local court 
or county bar association. 
NOTE: The court has a statuto-
ry lien for waived fees and costs 
on any settlement or arbitration 
award of $10,000 or more in a 
civil case. The court’s lien must 
be paid before the court will 
dismiss the case. ¡AVISO! Lo 
han demandado. Si no responde 
dentro de 30 dias, la corte pu-
ede decidir en su contra sin 
escuchar su version. Lea la in-
formacion a continuacion

   Tiene 30 DIAS DE CAL-
ENDARIO después de que le 
entreguen esta citación y pa-
peles legales para presentar 
una repuesta por escrito en esta 
corte y hacer que se entreque 
una copia al demandante. Una 
carta o una llamada telefonica 
no le protegen. Su respuesta 
por escrito tiene que estar on 
formato legal correcto si de-
sea que procesen su caso en 
la corte. Es posible que haya 
un formulano que usted puede 
usar para su respuesta. Puede 
encontrar estos formularios 
de la corte y mas información 
en el Centro de Ayuda de las 
Cortes de California (www.su-
corte.ca.gov), en la biblioteca 
de leyes de su condado o en la 
corte que le quede mas cerca. Si 
no puede pagar la cuota de pre-
sentación, pida si secretario de 
la corta que le de un formulario 
de exencion de pago de cuotas. 
Si no presenta su respuesta a 
tiempo, puede perder el caso 
por incumplimiento y la corta le 
podrá quitar su sueldo, dinero y 
bienes sin mas advertencia. 

                Hay otros req-
uisitos legales. Es recomend-
able que llame a un abogado 
inmediatamente. Si no conace 
a un abogado, puede llamar a 
un servicio de referencia a abo-
gados. Si no peude pagar a un 
a un abogado, es posible que 
cumpia con los requisitos para 
obtener servicios legales gratu 
de un programa de servicios 
legales sin fines de lucro. Puede 
encontrar estos grupos sin fines 
de lucro en el sitio web de Cali-
fornia Legal Services, (www.
lawhelpcalifornia.org), en el 
Centro de Ayuda de las Cortes 
de California, (www.sucorte.
ca.gov), o poniendoso en con-
tacto con la corte o el colegio de 
abogados locales. AVISO: Por 
ley, la corte tiene derecho a rec-
lamar las cuotas y los costos ex-
entos gravamen sobre cualquier 
recuperación da $10,000 o mas 
de vaior recibida mediante un 
aceurdo o una concesión de 
arbitraje en un caso de derecho 
civil. Tiene que pagar el grava-
men de la corta antes de que la 
corta pueda desechar el caso.

The name and address of 
the court is: (El nombre y la di-
reccion de la corte es):

Superior Court of Califor-
nia County of San Bernardino

San Bernardino, Central 
247 West Third Street,
San Bernardino, CA 

92415-0210
The name, address and 

telephone number of plaintiff’s 
attorney, or plaintiff without an 
attorney, is: (El nombre, la di-
reccion y el numero de telefono 

del abogado del demandante, 
o del demendante que no tiene 
abogado, es):

Law Offices of Gary A. Be-
mis APC

Gary A. Bemis 92508
3870 La Sierra Ave., Suite 

239
Riverside, CA 92505
Telephone: (951) 588-2080
DATE (Fecha): October 30, 

2019
Clerk (Secretario), by Am-

ber M. Gear, Deputy (Adjunto) 
Published in the San Ber-

nardino County Sentinel on 
4/10/20, 4/17/20, 4/24/20,  
5/1/20

 

SUMMONS –  (CITACION 
JUDICIAL) 

CASE NUMBER (NU-
MERO DEL CASO) CIVDS 
1924335

NOTICE TO DEFEN-
DANT (AVISO DEMANDA-
DO): DESTINY ARNOLD

YOU ARE BEING SUED 
BY PLAINTIFF: (LO ESTA 
DEMANDANDO EL CON-
TRADEMANDANTE):

NAVY FEDERAL CRED-
IT UNION

NOTICE! You have been 
sued. The court may decide 
against you without your be-
ing heard unless you respond 
within 30 days. Read the infor-
mation below.

   You have 30 CALENDAR 
DAYS after this summons and 
legal papers are served on you 
to file a written response at this 
court and have a copy served on 
the plaintiff. A letter or phone 
call will not protect you. Your 
written response must be in 
proper legal form if you want 
the court to hear your case. 
There may be a court form that 
you can use for your response. 
You can find these court forms 
and more information at the 
California Courts Online Self-
Help Center (www.courtinfo.
ca.gov/selfhelp), your county 
law library, or the courthouse 
nearest you. If you cannot pay 
the filing fee, ask the court clerk 
for a fee waiver form. If you do 
not file your response on time, 
you may lose the case by de-
fault, and your wages, money, 
and property may be taken 
without further warning from 
the court. 

   There are other legal re-
quirements. You may want to 
call an attorney right away. If 
you do not know an attorney, 
you may want to call an at-
torney referral service. If you 
cannot afford an attorney, you 
may be eligible for free legal 
services from a nonprofit legal 
services program. You can lo-
cate these nonprofit groups at 
the California Legal Services 
Web site (www.lawhelpcalifor-
nia.org), the California Courts 
Online Self-Help Center (www.
courtinfo.ca.gov/selfhelp), or 
by contacting your local court 
or county bar association. 
NOTE: The court has a statuto-
ry lien for waived fees and costs 
on any settlement or arbitration 
award of $10,000 or more in a 
civil case. The court’s lien must 
be paid before the court will 
dismiss the case. ¡AVISO! Lo 
han demandado. Si no responde 
dentro de 30 dias, la corte pu-
ede decidir en su contra sin 
escuchar su version. Lea la in-
formacion a continuacion

   Tiene 30 DIAS DE CAL-
ENDARIO después de que le 
entreguen esta citación y pa-
peles legales para presentar 
una repuesta por escrito en esta 
corte y hacer que se entreque 
una copia al demandante. Una 
carta o una llamada telefonica 
no le protegen. Su respuesta 
por escrito tiene que estar on 
formato legal correcto si de-
sea que procesen su caso en 
la corte. Es posible que haya 
un formulano que usted puede 
usar para su respuesta. Puede 
encontrar estos formularios 
de la corte y mas información 
en el Centro de Ayuda de las 
Cortes de California (www.su-
corte.ca.gov), en la biblioteca 
de leyes de su condado o en la 
corte que le quede mas cerca. Si 
no puede pagar la cuota de pre-
sentación, pida si secretario de 
la corta que le de un formulario 
de exencion de pago de cuotas. 
Si no presenta su respuesta a 

tiempo, puede perder el caso 
por incumplimiento y la corta le 
podrá quitar su sueldo, dinero y 
bienes sin mas advertencia. 

Hay otros requisitos lega-
les. Es recomendable que llame 
a un abogado inmediatamente. 
Si no conace a un abogado, pu-
ede llamar a un servicio de ref-
erencia a abogados. Si no peude 
pagar a un a un abogado, es 
posible que cumpia con los req-
uisitos para obtener servicios 
legales gratu de un programa de 
servicios legales sin fines de lu-
cro. Puede encontrar estos gru-
pos sin fines de lucro en el sitio 
web de California Legal Ser-
vices, (www.lawhelpcalifornia.
org), en el Centro de Ayuda de 
las Cortes de California, (www.
sucorte.ca.gov), o poniendoso 
en contacto con la corte o el 
colegio de abogados locales. 
AVISO: Por ley, la corte tiene 
derecho a reclamar las cuotas 
y los costos exentos gravamen 
sobre cualquier recuperación 
da $10,000 o mas de vaior re-
cibida mediante un aceurdo o 
una concesión de arbitraje en 
un caso de derecho civil. Tiene 
que pagar el gravamen de la 
corta antes de que la corta pu-
eda desechar el caso.

The name and address of 
the court is: (El nombre y la di-
reccion de la corte es):

 Superior Court of Califor-
nia, County of San Bernardino, 
San Bernardino Civil Division 
247 West Third Street, San 
Bernardino, CA 92415, San 
Bernardino Justice Center.

The name, address and 
telephone number of plaintiff’s  
attorney, or plaintiff without an 
attorney, is: (El nombre, la di-
reccion y el numero de telefono 
del abogado del contrademan-
dante, o del contrademandante 
que no tiene abogado, es):

MORANI STEIMACH, 
Esq., (State Bar No. 296670)

SILVERMAN THEOLO-
GOU, LLP

11630 CHAYOTE 
STREET, SUITE 3, LOS AN-
GELES, CA 90049  213-226-
6922  

DATE (Fecha): AUGUST 
16, 2019

Clerk (Secretario), by Kirk 
Warner, Deputy (Adjunto) 

Published in San Bernardi-
no County Sentinel: 4/10, 4/17, 
4/24 & 5/01, 2020

ORDER TO SHOW 
CAUSE FOR CHANGE OF 
NAME CASE NUMBER  
CIVDS2006280

TO  ALL INTERESTED 
PERSONS: Petitioner: MI-
CHELLE ELIZABETH MI-
LAN  filed with this court for 
a decree changing names as 
follows:

AALIYAH MICHELLE 
JOHNSON to AALIYAH MI-
CHELLE MILAN

THE COURT ORDERS 
that all persons interested in 
this matter appear before this 
court at the hearing indicated 
below to show cause, if any, 
why the petition for change of 
name should not be granted. 
Any person objecting to the 
name changes described above 
must file a written objec-
tion that includes the reasons 
for the objection at least two 
court days before the matter is 
scheduled to be heard and must 
appear at the hearing to show 
cause why the petition should 
not be granted. If no written ob-
jection is timely filed, the court 
may grant the petition without 
a hearing.

Notice of Hearing:
Date: 05/29/2020
Time: 8:30 a.m.
Department: S16 
The address of the court is 

Superior Court of California, 
County of San Bernardino, San 
Bernardino District - Civil Di-
vision, 247 West Third Street, 
Same as above, San Bernardi-
no, CA 92415-0210, San Ber-
nardino

IT IS FURTHER OR-
DERED that a copy of this 
order be published in the SAN 
BERNARDINO COUNTY 
SENTINEL in San Bernardino 
County California, once a week 
for four successive weeks prior 
to the date set for hearing of the 
petition.

Dated: March 2, 2020

Lynn M. Poncin
Judge of the Superior 

Court. 
Published in the San Ber-

nardino County Sentinel  on  
4/10/20, 4/17/20, 4/24/20 & 
5/01/20.

FBN 20200003072     
The following person is doing busi-
ness as: DANIEL’S MOBILE RE-
PAIR 18411 VALLEY BLVD SPC 
64 BLOOMINGTON, CA 92316; 
DANIEL’S MOBILE REPAIR, 
INC. 18411 VALLEY BLVD SPC 
64 BLOOMINGTON, CA 92316 
The business is conduct-
ed by: A CORPORATION  
The registrant commenced to 
transact business under the 
fictitious business name or 
names listed above on: N/A 
By signing, I declare that all infor-
mation in this statement is true and 
correct. A registrant who declares 
as true information which he or she 
knows to be false is guilty of a crime 
(B&P Code 179130. I am also aware 
that all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ LUIS D. GODINEZ 
RAMOS, PRESIDENT 
Statement filed with the County Clerk 
of San Bernardino on: 03/05/2020 
I hereby certify that this copy is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office San Ber-
nardino County Clerk By:/Deputy 
Notice-This fictitious name state-
ment expires five years from the date 
it was filed in the office of the county 
clerk. A new fictitious business 
name statement must be filed before 
that time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious business 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see Section 14400 et seq., 
Business and Professions Code). 
Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel 03/20/2020, 
03/27/2020, 04/03/2020, 04/10/2020          
CNBB12202001IR

NOTICE OF PETITION 
TO ADMINISTER ESTATE 
OF: 

Kyle Michael Griffith 
Case NO. PROPS2000186
To all heirs, beneficiaries, 

creditors, contingent creditors, 
and persons who may other-
wise be interested in the will or 
estate, or both of Kyle Michael 
Griffith

A PETITION FOR PRO-
BATE has been filed by Debo-
rah McGrath, in the Superior 
Court of California, County of 
San Bernardino. 

THE PETITION FOR 
PROBATE requests that Maren 
Miller, CLPF, NCG be appoint-
ed as personal representative 
to administer the estate of the 
decedent. 

THE PETITION requests 
authority to administer the 
estate under the Independent 
Administration of Estates Act. 
(This authority will allow the 
personal representative to take 
many actions without obtain-
ing court approval. Before 
taking certain very important 
actions, however, the personal 
representative will be required 
to give notice to interested per-
sons unless they have waived 
notice or consented to the pro-
posed action.) The independent 
administration authority will 
be granted unless an interested 
person files an objection to the 
petition and shows good cause 
why the court should not grant 
the authority.

A hearing on the petition 
will be held in Dept. No. S36 
at 8:30 a.m. on June 16, 2020 
at Superior Court of California, 
County of San Bernardino, 247 
West Third Street, San Ber-
nardino, CA 92415, San Ber-
nardino- Probate 

IF YOU OBJECT to the 
granting of the petition, you 
should appear at the hearing 
and state your objections or 
file written objections with the 
court before the hearing. Your 
appearance may be in person or 
by your attorney.

IF YOU ARE A CREDI-
TOR or a contingent creditor 
of the decedent, you must file 
your claim with the court and 
mail a copy to the personal 
representative appointed by the 
court within the later of either 
(1) four months from the date of 
first issuance of letters to a gen-
eral personal representative, as 
defined in section 58(b) of the 
California Probate Code, or (2) 
60 days from the date of mail-
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ing or personal delivery to you 
of a notice under Section 9052 
of the California Probate Code.

Other California statutes 
and legal authority may affect 
your rights as a creditor. You 
may want to consult with an at-
torney knowledgeable in Cali-
fornia law.

YOU MAY EXAMINE the 
file kept by the court. If you are 
a person interested in the es-
tate, you may file with the court 
a Request for Special Notice 
(form DE-154) of the filing of 
an inventory and appraisal of 
estate assets or of any petition 
or account as provided in Pro-
bate Code section 1250. A Re-
quest for Special Notice form is 
available from the court clerk.

Attorney for Petitioner: 
William L. Banning, Esq.
16409 Via de Santa Fe,
Rancho Santa Fe, CA 

92067
Telephone No: 

858.756.0056
San Bernardino County 

Sentinel 
4/17/20, 4/24/20, 5/1/20

FBN 2020-------
The following person is doing 

business as: NOTARIZE DOCS 4 
U [and] MOSLEY BUSINESS SO-
LUTIONS 721 N SAN ANTONIO 
AVENUE  UPLAND, CALIF   91786

DOAQUIN  MOSLEY  721 
NORTH SAN ANTONIO AVENUE  
UPLAND, CA   91786

Mailing Address:  333 E AR-
ROW HIGHWAY,  #1107 UPLAND, 
CA 91785     

This Business is Conducted By: 
AN INDIVIDUAL

Signed: BY SIGNING BELOW, 
I DECLARE THAT ALL INFOR-
MATION IN THIS STATEMENT 
IS TRUE AND CORRECT. A reg-
istrant who declares as true infor-
mation, which he or she knows to be 
false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P Code 
17913) I am also aware that all infor-
mation on this statement becomes 
Public Record upon filing.

S/ DOAQUIN MOSLEY
This statement was filed with 

the County Clerk of San Bernardino 
on: 04/14/2020

I hereby certify that this is a cor-
rect copy of the original statement on 

file in my office.
Began Transacting Business: 

01/01/2020
County Clerk, Deputy
NOTICE- This fictitious busi-

ness name statement expires five 
years from the date it was filed in 
the office of the county clerk. A new 
fictitious business name statement 
must be filed before that time. The 
filing of this statement does not of 
itself authorize the use in this state 
of a fictitious name in violation of the 
rights of another under federal, state, 
or common law (see section 14400 et. 
Seq. Business & Professions Code).

Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel on  4/17/20, 4/24/20, 
5/01/20 & 5/08/20

FBN 20200002823
The following person is do-

ing business as: NEW ENGLAND 
DWELLING 711 S DATE AVE  RI-
ALTO, CA        KADESHA P ENG-
LAND  711 S DATE AVE  RIALTO, 
CA

This Business is Conducted By: 
AN INDIVIDUAL

Signed: BY SIGNING BELOW, 
I DECLARE THAT ALL INFOR-
MATION IN THIS STATEMENT 
IS TRUE AND CORRECT. A reg-
istrant who declares as true infor-
mation, which he or she knows to be 
false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P Code 
17913) I am also aware that all infor-
mation on this statement becomes 
Public Record upon filing.

S/ Kadeshaa England
This statement was filed with 

the County Clerk of San Bernardino 
on: 03/03/2020

I hereby certify that this is a cor-
rect copy of the original statement on 
file in my office.

Began Transacting Business: 
03/01/2020

County Clerk, Deputy
NOTICE- This fictitious busi-

ness name statement expires five 
years from the date it was filed in 
the office of the county clerk. A new 
fictitious business name statement 
must be filed before that time. The 
filing of this statement does not of 
itself authorize the use in this state 
of a fictitious name in violation of the 
rights of another under federal, state, 
or common law (see section 14400 et. 
Seq. Business & Professions Code).

Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel on  4/17/20, 4/24/20, 
5/01/20 & 5/08/20

FBN 202000003925     
The following person is doing 
business as: JJ GRILL; 59 MIL-
LIKEN AVE., SUITE #101, ON-
TARIO, CA 91761; BJ SOFT INC., 
59 MILLIKEN AVE., SUITE 
#101, ONTARIO, CA 91761 
The business is conduct-
ed by: A CORPORATION  
The registrant commenced to 
transact business under the ficti-
tious business name or names 
listed above on: APRIL 01, 2015 
By signing, I declare that all infor-
mation in this statement is true and 
correct. A registrant who declares 
as true information which he or she 
knows to be false is guilty of a crime 
(B&P Code 179130. I am also aware 
that all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ BAESAENG LEE, CEO 
Statement filed with the County Clerk 
of San Bernardino on: 04/13/2020 
I hereby certify that this copy is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office San Ber-
nardino County Clerk By:/Deputy 
Notice-This fictitious name state-
ment expires five years from the date 
it was filed in the office of the county 
clerk. A new fictitious business name 
statement must be filed before that 
time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious business 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see Section 14400 et seq., 
Business and Professions Code). 
Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel 04/17/2020, 
04/24/2020, 05/01/2020, 05/08/2020          
CNBB16202001MT

FBN 20200003924    
The following person is doing busi-
ness as: G AND E TRUCK REPAI; 
250 NORTH LINDEN AVE., SPACE 
76, RIALTO, CA 92376 JOSE A. EU-
SEBIO, 250 NORTH LINDEN AVE., 
SPCAE 76, RIALTO, CA 92376 
The business is conduct-
ed by: AN INDIVIDUAL  
The registrant commenced to transact 
business under the fictitious business 
name or names listed above on: N/A 
By signing, I declare that all infor-
mation in this statement is true and 
correct. A registrant who declares 
as true information which he or she 
knows to be false is guilty of a crime 
(B&P Code 179130. I am also aware 
that all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ JOSE ARMAN-

DO EUSEBIO, OWNER  
Statement filed with the County Clerk 
of San Bernardino on: 04/13/2020 
I hereby certify that this copy is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office San Ber-
nardino County Clerk By:/Deputy 
Notice-This fictitious name state-
ment expires five years from the date 
it was filed in the office of the county 
clerk. A new fictitious business name 
statement must be filed before that 
time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious business 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see Section 14400 et seq., 
Business and Professions Code). 
Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel 04/17/2020, 
04/24/2020, 05/01/2020, 05/08/2020          
CNBB16202002MT

FBN 20200003923   
The following person is doing busi-
ness as: SUNRISE CONTRAC-
TORS; 219 S. RIVERIDE AVE., 
#184, RIALTO, CA 92376; MARCOS 
DIAZ CORTES, JR; 219 S, RIVER-
ISE AVE #184, RIALTO, CA 92376 
The business is conduct-
ed by: AN INDIVIDUAL   
The registrant commenced to 
transact business under the ficti-
tious business name or names 
listed above on: 12/28/2016 
By signing, I declare that all infor-
mation in this statement is true and 
correct. A registrant who declares 
as true information which he or she 
knows to be false is guilty of a crime 
(B&P Code 179130. I am also aware 
that all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ MARCOS DIAZ COR-
TES, JR; OWNER 
Statement filed with the County Clerk 
of San Bernardino on: 04/13/2020 
I hereby certify that this copy is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office San Ber-
nardino County Clerk By:/Deputy 
Notice-This fictitious name state-
ment expires five years from the date 
it was filed in the office of the county 
clerk. A new fictitious business name 
statement must be filed before that 
time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious business 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see Section 14400 et seq., 
Business and Professions Code). 
Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel 04/17/2020, 

04/24/2020, 05/01/2020, 05/08/2020          
CNBB16202003MT

FBN 20200003921  
The following person is doing busi-
ness as: BEACH TO HILLS HOMES; 
15931 JANINE DR., WHITTIER, 
CA 90603; SHANNON BROWN 
REAL ESTATE GROUP, INC; 15931 
JANINE DR, WHITTIER, CA 90603 
The business is conduct-
ed by: A CORPORATION  
The registrant commenced to 
transact business under the ficti-
tious business name or names 
listed above on: OCT. 18, 2019 
By signing, I declare that all infor-
mation in this statement is true and 
correct. A registrant who declares 
as true information which he or she 
knows to be false is guilty of a crime 
(B&P Code 179130. I am also aware 
that all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ SHANNON COLETTE 
BROWN, PRESIDENT  
Statement filed with the County Clerk 
of San Bernardino on: 04/13/2020 
I hereby certify that this copy is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office San Ber-
nardino County Clerk By:/Deputy 
Notice-This fictitious name state-
ment expires five years from the date 
it was filed in the office of the county 
clerk. A new fictitious business name 
statement must be filed before that 
time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious business 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see Section 14400 et seq., 
Business and Professions Code). 
Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel 04/17/2020, 
04/24/2020, 05/01/2020, 05/08/2020          
CNBB16202004EM

FBN 20200003922	
STATEMENT OF ABANDON-
MENT OF USE OF FICTICIOUS 
BUSINESS NAME STATEMENT     
The following person is doing 
business as: TEAM FREIGHT 
TRANSPORT; 15222 LILAC ST., 
HESPERIA, CA 92345; HUM-
BERTO C. JOVEL; 15222 LILAC 
ST., HESPERIA, CA 92345, JOSE 
A. RAMIREZ, 15222 LILAC ST., 
HESPERIA, CA 92345 The busi-
ness is conducted by: A GENERAL 
PARTNERSHIP This statement was 
filed with the County Clerk of San 
Bernardino County on 09/202017. 

Original File#FBN20170010680 
The registrant commenced to transact 
business under the fictitious business 
name or names listed above on: N/A 
By signing, I declare that all infor-
mation in this statement is true and 
correct. A registrant who declares 
as true information which he or she 
knows to be false is guilty of a crime 
(B&P Code 179130. I am also aware 
that all information on this statement 
becomes Public Record upon filing. 
s/ HUMBERTO C. JOV-
EL, GENERAL PARTNER 
Statement filed with the County Clerk 
of San Bernardino on: 04/13/2020 
I hereby certify that this copy is a 
correct copy of the original state-
ment on file in my office San Ber-
nardino County Clerk By:/Deputy 
Notice-This fictitious name state-
ment expires five years from the date 
it was filed in the office of the county 
clerk. A new fictitious business name 
statement must be filed before that 
time. The filing of this statement 
does not of itself authorize the use 
in this state of a fictitious business 
name in violation of the rights of 
another under federal, state, or com-
mon law (see Section 14400 et seq., 
Business and Professions Code). 
Published in the San Bernardino 
County Sentinel 04/17/2020, 
04/24/2020, 05/01/2020, 05/08/2020          
CNBB16202005EM

FICTITIOUS BUSINESS 
NAME

STATEMENT FILE NO-
20200003735

The following person(s) is(are) 
doing business as: Vanevenhoven 
Real Estate & Investments Group; 
The V-Team; The Vanevenhoven 
Team; The VTeam; Vanevenhoven 
Group; Vanevenhoven Investments 
Group,  8885 Haven Ave, Suite 200, 
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91730, 
Mailing Address: 8885 Haven Ave, 
Suite 200, Rancho Cucamonga, CA 
91730, RJ Realty Group, Inc., 8885 
Haven Ave, Suite 200, Rancho Cu-
camonga, CA 91730

Business is Conducted By: A 
Corporation   

Signed: BY SIGNING BELOW, 
I DECLARE THAT ALL INFOR-
MATION IN THIS STATEMENT 
IS TRUE AND CORRECT. A reg-
istrant who declares as true infor-
mation, which he or she knows to be 
false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P Code 
17913) I am also aware that all infor-
mation on this statement becomes 
Public Record upon filing.

s/ Vance Vanevenhoven  
This statement was filed with 

the County Clerk of San Bernardino 
on: 3/31/20

I hereby certify that this is a cor-
rect copy of the original statement on 
file in my office.

Began Transacting Business: 
11/01/16

NOTICE- This fictitious busi-
ness name statement expires five 
years from the date it was filed in 
the office of the county clerk. A new 
fictitious business name statement 
must be filed before that time. The 
filing of this statement does not of 
itself authorize the use in this state 
of a fictitious name in violation of the 
rights of another under federal, state, 
or common law (see section 14400 et. 
Seq. Business & Professions Code).

4/24/20, 5/1/20, 5/8/20, 5/15/20

FICTITIOUS BUSINESS 
NAME 

#20200003803
The following person(s) is(are) 

doing business as: PALO SOLO 
TRANS 7607 VIOLA CT  FON-
TANA, CA 92336

ARNULFO PINON 7607 VIO-
LA CT  FONTANA, CA 92336

Mailing Address: 7607 VIOLA 
CT  FONTANA, CA 92336

Business is Conducted By: AN 
INDIVIDUAL

Signed: BY SIGNING BELOW, 
I DECLARE THAT ALL INFOR-
MATION IN THIS STATEMENT 
IS TRUE AND CORRECT. A reg-
istrant who declares as true infor-
mation, which he or she knows to be 
false, is guilty of a crime. (B&P Code 
17913) I am also aware that all infor-
mation on this statement becomes 
Public Record upon filing.

S/ Anulfo Pinon 
This statement was filed with 

the County Clerk of San Bernardino 
on: 04/03/2020

I hereby certify that this is a cor-
rect copy of the original statement on 
file in my office.

Began Transacting Business: 
09/12/2003

NOTICE- This fictitious busi-
ness name statement expires five 
years from the date it was filed in 
the office of the county clerk. A new 
fictitious business name statement 
must be filed before that time. The 
filing of this statement does not of 
itself authorize the use in this state 
of a fictitious name in violation of the 
rights of another under federal, state, 
or common law (see section 14400 et. 
Seq. Business & Professions Code).

4/24/20, 5/1/20, 5/8/20, 5/15/20

Hired As A Man-
ager, Brosowske 
Served As A Politi-
cal Operative 
from page 7

for both Armendarez 
and Cothran in Fontana. 
He had also been Phil 
Cothran’s alternate on 
the Republican Central 
Committee. Together 
with Naseem Farooqi, 
the West Valley Water 
District’s public affairs 
manager, Brosowske 
worked with Ramirez 
on his campaign against 
Greg Young.

Brosowske, who had 
burned his bridges with 
one faction of Hesperia’s 
Republicans by lending 
moral support to the ef-
fort to recall Holland and 
by his remarks indicat-
ing he was unopposed 
to the marijuanification 
of Hesperia, yet had 
entrée with influential 
members of the Republi-
can Central Committee. 
In what was for some a 
startling turn of events, 
Brosowske and others 
militating on behalf of 
Ramirez managed to 
have the San Bernardino 

County Republican Cen-
tral Committee, of which 
Greg Young had been a 
longstanding member 
energetically supporting 
Republican candidates 
and causes, forsake Greg 
Young and instead en-
dorse Ramirez. In what 
was intended to be the 
coup de grâce, Taylor 
put up $19,128.04 to help 
Ramirez, using money 
from his own campaign 
fund that went either di-
rectly to Ramirez’s cam-
paign or which was spent 
to pay for pro-Ramirez 
materials provided by a 
third party or indepen-
dent expenditure com-
mittee.

Simultaneously, Tay-
lor was pulling out all 
of the stops to keep the 
Democrat Olinger on the 
board.

Taylor secured 
Crowther’s assistance 
in pursuing that objec-
tive. Crowther transfered 
$3,000 from his election-
eering fund into Tay-
lor’s political war chest, 
and $2,500 to the Inland 
Empire Taxpayers Asso-
ciation. Taylor then used 
his campaign treasury 
to provide Olinger with 
$22,620.48 worth of con-

tributions, in-kind sup-
port or other financing in 
his campaign, including 
purchasing electioneer-
ing materials in the form 
of ads or mailers for 
Olinger.

While Taylor and 
Crowther were crossing 
the partisan line in sup-
porting the Democrat 
Olinger, theirs was a 
venial rather than a mor-
tal sin, since Olinger’s 
opponent, Channing 
Hawkins, was also a 
Democrat.

During the campaign, 
evidence surfaced, con-
sisting of some form of 
electronic media, show-
ing that Brosowske was 
engaged in work on the 
premises of the West 
Valley Water District 
Headquarters at 855 
West Baseline Road in 
Rialto on behalf of one 
of the district’s board 
candidates. Within days, 
there were follow-up re-
ports that Brosowske 
was actively working on 
behalf of Olinger against 
Hawkins as well as for 
Angel Ramirez against 
Greg Young. In the wake 
of the accusation that he 
was engaged in partisan 
electioneering activity 

during work hours per-
formed at the district’s 
premises, there were 
calls for Brosowske’s 
suspension. With the 
outcome of the election 
yet in doubt, no move 
to suspend or sack Bro-
sowske ensued.

Despite the best efforts 
by Taylor, Crowther and 
Brosowske, ultimately 
Hawkins prevailed in the 
race, defeating Olinger 
convincingly with 623 
votes or 64.83 percent 
in the district’s Divi-
sion 4 race to Olinger’s 
338 votes or 35.17 per-
cent cast on November 
5.  Equally disappoint-
ing to the trio was that 
Greg Young was able 
to hold off Ramirez and 
another candidate in the 
race, Jackie Cox. Greg 
Young garnered 340 
votes or 52.63 percent to 
Ramirez’s 230 votes or 
35.6 percent and Cox’s 
76 votes or 11.76 percent. 
Crowther, with 282 votes 
or 53.41 percent, hung 
onto his board position, 
defeating Betty Gosney 
and Linda Martinez with 
32 or 6.06 percent and 
211 votes or 39.96 per-
cent, respectively.

After the November 

electoral victories by 
Hawkins and Young, 
there was widespread 
anticipation that Bro-
sowske’s firing would 
follow. Nevertheless, 
Brosowske’s six month 
anniversary with the 
district elapsed in No-
vember, some two weeks 
after the election, and 
with it Brosowske’s pro-
bationary period.

In December, on the 
same day that Hawkins 
was sworn in as a board 
member, he was elevat-
ed, in a somewhat un-
common move, to the 
position of board presi-
dent. Normally, the hon-
orific of being selected 
by one’s colleagues to 
head a governing board 
as chairman or president 
or appointed mayor is 
not conferred upon an 
elected official until he 
or she gains some degree 
of experience in office.

In December, 
Hawkins, who had run 
on a reformist platform, 
quietly and without in-
volving the other board 
members, directed West 
Valley Water District 
General Manager Clar-
ence Mansell to retain 
the public relations firm 

of ChamberlaynePR, 
owned by Charles Cham-
berlayne, to undertake 
certain communications 
services for the district. 
The initial installment of 
that contract, as awarded 
by Mansell using his 
authority to enter into 
contracts or make ex-
penditures of $25,000 
or less without board 
approval, committed to 
paying ChamberlaynePR 
$23,000 before the board 
revisits the matter to de-
termine if the contract 
should be extended.

While an assign-
ment Chamberlayne was 
tasked with was coor-
dinating the district’s 
communication with 
regard to its response to 
the coronavirus crisis, it 
was revealed last month 
that Charles Chamber-
layne was making an as-
sessment of the district’s 
communication func-
tion, what was referred 
to as “external affairs.” 
Of note was the concern 
that there was some de-
gree of overlap and re-
dundancy in terms of the 
district’s communica-
tions functions. Mansell 
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Jury Accepted That 
Purchasing Political 
Influence Is Permis-
sible  from page 6

criminal complaint filed 
against Postmus and Er-
win in 2010. In particu-
lar, omitting Richards, 
the mastermind of the 
inf luence-purchasing 
element of the Colonies 
Partners’ pre-settlement 
activity, while indicting 
Burum, whose involve-
ment in at least some re-
spects did not rise to that 
of his older and more 
politically experienced 
and politically connect-
ed partner, was glaring. 
There was an undeni-
able political element to 
the case in that Richards 
was well-recognized as 
a major financial backer 
of multiple politicians, 
including Ramos. More-
over, he had been a 
member of both the San 
Bernardino County and 
California Republican 
Central Committees.   
Word spread that Ramos 
had excluded Richards 
from the indictment for 
those reasons as well as 
because San Bernardino 
County Chief Executive 
Officer Greg Devereaux, 
who exercised a degree 
of control with regard 
to the district attorney’s 
office’s budget and who 
was a friend of Richards 
and like him a graduate 
of West Virginia Univer-
sity, had requested that 
the district attorney do 
so.

Of note, as well, was 
that the indictment did 
not name Matt Brown, 
who had been Biane’s 
chief of staff, though it 
named Kirk, who had 
been the chief of staff 
to Gary Ovitt, the third 
supervisor in addition 
to Postmus and Biane 
whose vote had been 
crucial to the passage of 
the $102 million settle-
ment. Just as Kirk had 
set up a political action 
committee into which 
a $100,000 check from 
the Colonies Partners 
had been deposited in 
the months following the 
settlement being ratified 
by the board of super-
visors, Brown had cre-
ated the political action 
committee, over which 
he and Biane had con-
trol, which had received 
another $100,000 check 
from the Colonies Part-
ners alleged to be a bribe 
to Biane.

Over the next five-
and-a-half years there 
was vigorous pretrial 
sparring between the 
prosecution and defense 
attorneys for all four 
of the defendants, with 
the heavy lifting being 
done by Burum’s lead 
attorney, former Federal 
Court Judge Stephen 
Larson. Motions to dis-
miss the case entirely or 
to dismiss specific charg-
es were made, some of 
which were granted and 
some of which were re-
jected by Superior Court 
Judge Brian McCarville. 
McCarville’s rulings 
were appealed to Cali-
fornia’s Fourth District 
Court of Appeal, which 
reinstated some of the 
charges that McCar-
ville had thrown out and 
dismissed some of the 
charges that McCarville 
had let stand. There were 
further delays while 
those rulings were ap-
pealed to the California 
Supreme Court.

In early 2016, Lar-
son sought to convince 
Judge Michael A. Smith 
to have the indictment 
thrown out on the basis 
of prosecutorial mis-
conduct, based on his 
contention that the pros-
ecution, consisting of the 
San Bernardino County 
District Attorney’s Of-
fice and the California 
Attorney General’s Of-
fice working in tandem, 
withheld exculpatory ev-
idence from the indict-
ing grand jury in April 
2011. Upon Judge Smith 
rejecting that request, 
the matter progressed up 
the judicial appeal chain 
until in August, 2016 
the California Supreme 
Court rejected the last 
stab by the defense to 
have the indictment dis-
missed before the case 
went to trial.

In December 2016, 
jury selection for the 
case was undertaken 
and competed, and the 
case went to trial before 
Judge Smith in Janu-
ary 2017. Two juries had 
been impaneled, one to 
hear the case against 
Burum, Biane and Kirk, 
and the other to deter-
mine Erwin’s fate. That 
bifurcation took place 
so that evidence inad-
missible against Burum, 
Biane and Kirk but ad-
missible against Erwin, 
which included his state-
ments to investigators 
as a search warrant was 
being served at his home 

in 2009, could be consid-
ered by Erwin’s jury but 
could also be kept from 
the jury hearing the case 
against the other three.

A total of 39 wit-
nesses were heard from. 
Brown, who had offered 
testimony that had been 
damning to Biane before 
the grand jury in 2011 
and who at one point 
had utilized a hidden re-
cording device to record 
dozens of conversations 
with Biane in 2009 and 
2010, proved uncoopera-
tive when he was called 
upon to testify at the 
trail.

Both Postmus and 
Aleman provided key 
testimony that under-
girded the charges 
against the four defen-
dants, supporting the 
accusation that Burum 
and Erwin had teamed 
up to blackmail Postmus 
and Biane to extort them 
into voting for the settle-
ment. Aleman main-
tained that the $100,000 
that Postmus and Biane 
each received in dona-
tions to their political ac-
tion committees were re-
wards/kickbacks for that 
support. Postmus in his 
testimony acknowledged 
that the two $50,000 
checks he had received 
had come to him as a 
consequence of his vote 
to support the settle-
ment, but stopped short 
of acknowledging the 
$100,000 being a bribe, 
per se.

The defense, primar-
ily in the form of one 
of Burum’s attorneys, 
Jennifer Keller, suc-
ceeded in emphasizing 
Postmus’s admission 
of heavy methamphet-
amine use in the 2005 
through 2009 time pe-
riod, and Keller thereby 
inculcated doubt in the 
jury with regard to the 
accuracy of Postmus’s 
recollections. Defense 
attorneys for all four 
defendants made a full 
court press in seeking to 
attack the character and 
credibility of Aleman, 
which in some measure 
undercut the heart of the 
case, as Aleman’s testi-
mony was a central and 
perhaps even the most 
powerful element of the 
prosecution’s case.

Ultimately, after tes-
timony from prosecution 
witnesses that lasted un-
til August and the deci-
sion by all of the defense 
attorneys not to put their 
respective clients on 

the stand nor call any 
defense witnesses, the 
defense conceded in its 
closing arguments that 
efforts to influence the 
county’s decision-mak-
ers with regard to the 
Colonies at San Antonio 
residential and Colonies 
Crossroads commercial 
subdivisions and set-
tling the ongoing litiga-
tion had taken place, but 
it was strongly asserted 
that such activity was 
permissible and consti-
tutionally protected. The 
defense insisted that the 
more lurid details of the 
case, including allega-
tions of extortion and 
bribery, were outright 
fabrications that formed 
the basis of a falsified 
narrative the prosecution 
was attempting to sell to 
the jury.

With the case in the 
hands of both juries after 
nearly eight months in 
trial, In relatively short 
order, the jury hearing 
the case against Burum, 
Biane and Kirk returned 
not guilty verdicts on all 
the remaining charges 
against those three. The 
deliberations in Erwin’s 
case were a bit more pro-
tracted. After multiple 
days of deliberations, 
Erwin’s jury was unable 
to reach a verdict on any 
of the charges.

After contemplating 
retrying Erwin, the pros-
ecution elected to dis-
miss the charges against 
him.

In the weeks and 
months after the acquit-
tals and Erwin’s dis-
missal, each of the four 
former defendants filed 
claims against the coun-
ty alleging reckless and 
malicious prosecution, 
as did the Colonies Part-
ners itself as a separate 
entity.

Starting in March, 
2018, a series of federal 
lawsuits were then filed 
against the county by 
the defendants and the 
Colonies Partners, which 
consisted of one by the 
Colonies Partners alleg-
ing $80 million in dam-
ages, another by Burum 
seeking $50 million in 
damages, one by Erwin 
seeking to recover $25 
million, one by Kirk 
seeking $40 million and 
another by Biane seek-
ing $10 million.

The suits allege mali-
cious prosecution, false 
ar rest /impr isonment, 
fabrication of evidence, 
fabricated testimony, 

withholding of evidence, 
a tainted indictment, 
negligence, intentional 
infliction of emotional 
distress, retaliation, po-
litical retribution, irre-
sponsible investigation, 
conspiracy, breach of 
contract, intimidation, 
harassment and civil 
rights violations. The 
cases have been consoli-
dated and are to be heard 
together before U.S. Fed-
eral Judge Jesus Bernal 
in Riverside.

The Colonies Part-
ners and Burum are 
represented by Larson; 
Erwin is represented by 
Raj Maline, who served 
as his defense attorney 
during the criminal trial; 
Kirk is represented by 
Peter Scalisi, who served 
as his defense attorney 
at trial. Biane, who was 
represented in the crimi-
nal matter by Mark Mc-
Donald, is represented in 
his federal civil suit by 
Dale Galipo.

Those named as de-
fendants in the federal 
civil suits are the County 
of San Bernardino; for-
mer District Attorney 
Michael Ramos, district 
attorney’s office inves-
tigators Hollis Randles 
and Robert Schreiber, 
and Supervising Depu-
ty District Attorney R. 
Lewis Cope, who pros-
ecuted the case against 
the defendants in 2017 
in conjunction with 
California Supervising 
Deputy District Attor-
ney Melissa Mandel. Ra-
mos is no longer district 
attorney, having lost his 
bid for reelection in 2018, 
largely on the strength of 
an intensive campaign 
against him by one of 
his former prosecutors, 
Jason Anderson, whose 
successful electioneer-
ing effort was heavily 
funded by Burum and 
his associates.

Among the factors 
that contributed to the 
decisions to file those 
civil suits was the provi-
sion – that is, the leak-
ing – of communications 
between District At-
torney Michael Ramos 
and certain individuals 
including members of 
the prosecution team re-
lating to various aspects 
of the criminal case, the 
decision-making process 
pertaining to it and the 
general atmospherics en-
veloping the case.

Indeed, Ramos’s 
stance in relation to 
the Colonies Partners 

and the settlement case 
transmogrified signifi-
cantly over time, as dur-
ing his initial run for dis-
trict attorney in 2002 he 
had drawn a significant 
amount of his campaign 
funding from the Colo-
nies Partners and had 
therefore sought, suc-
cessfully, to shield the 
company and its employ-
ees and agents from any 
investigative scrutiny or 
being subjected to his 
office’s prosecutorial au-
thority. In the run-up to 
the 2010 election, how-
ever, his loyalty toward 
his former patrons was 
overcome by the politi-
cal necessity of making 
a strong case for his re-
election, and he thus be-
gan pressing his staff to 
launch a prosecution of 
Postmus and Erwin so 
it could be trumpeted as 
one of his accomplish-
ments.

In the march toward 
trial in federal court, 
which was previously 
scheduled to be heard 
as early as this month 
but which has now been 
pushed back at least until 
September because of the 
suspension of the court’s 
calendar due to the CO-
VID-19 crisis, it has be-
come clear that Ramos, 
as the central defendant 
in the case, endeavored 
to hide evidence that 
might suggest the drive 
to prosecute the four 
defendants who went 
on trial in 2017 arose as 
much out of both per-
sonal vindictiveness and 
political expedience as 
it did from a straightfor-
ward professional analy-
sis of the actions leading 
to and facts surrounding 
the 2006 settlement.

According to a motion 
for sanctions against the 
county and Ramos filed 
by Larson in November 
2019, Ramos engaged 
in what Larson termed 
“spoliation of evidence 
based on defendants’ 
deletion of emails in Ra-
mos’s campaign account, 
mike@joinmikeramos.
com, and deletion or 
non-production of text 
messages from Ramos’s 
personal cellular phone. 
Plaintiffs believe this ESI 
[electronically stored 
information] is relevant 
to their claims against 
defendants, because the 
ESI would tend to show 
Ramos viewed Burum 
as a political enemy and 

Continued on Page 11
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WVWD Board 
President Acknowl-
edges Brosowske 
Was Unqualified To 
Serve As Assistant 
General Manager   
from page 9 

is authorized to make 
official statements on be-
half of the district. The 
district some months 
back gravitated to modi-
fying Brosowske’s title 
to that of Assistant Gen-
eral Manager for Exter-
nal Affairs, which in-
cluded the assignments 
of interacting with other 
governmental entities 
and supervising the dis-
trict’s communication 
and public information 
and publicity divisions. 
The district also employs 
a public affairs manager, 
Naseem Farooqi, as well 
as a crew of customer 
service representatives.

During the district 
board’s closed session 
at its April 16 meeting, 
Charles Chamberlayne 
and his firm provided 
the assessment report for 
external affairs. While 
the report is not public, 
and the board voted to 
postpone the public pre-
sentation of the findings 
from that evening until 
the next board meeting 
to give themselves time 
to review the report, 
the Sentinel has learned 
that Chamberlayne was 
scathing in his assess-
ment of the district’s 
overall communication 
performance, laying re-
sponsibility for those 
shortcomings at the feet 
of both Mansell and Bro-
sowske.

Brosowske, after hav-
ing either been provided 
with a copy of the report 
or being given a descrip-
tion of its contents and 
conclusion or in any case 
sensing the nature of the 
findings, offered a sepa-
ration agreement at the 
Thursday evening April 
16 meeting effective Fri-
day April 17, agreeing to 
part ways with the dis-
trict. It was reported out 
from the board’s closed 
session that the board 
voted 4-to-0, with Greg 
Young abstaining, to ac-
cept his offer.

Greg Young, while 
saying he welcomed 
Brosowske’s departure, 
told the Sentinel, “I ab-
stained because I felt 
the offer was too high 
given the report we had 

just received, which was 
devastating in its assess-
ment of Mr. Brosowske’s 
leadership.”

Simultaneous with, 
or shortly after Bro-
sowske’s departure, Hu-
man Resources and Risk 
Manager Deborah Mar-
tinez and Board Secre-
tary Crystal Escalera 
also entered into separa-
tion agreements with the 
district.

Farooqi, in his capac-
ity as the district’s pub-
lic affairs manager, said, 
“Under a cooperative ef-
fort led by the board of 
directors, the WVWD 
[West Valley Water 
District] is working to 
improve accountability 
and services for ratepay-
ers, which involves an 
unprecedented and col-
laborative process to re-
organize staff from man-
agement to entry-level 
positions and reassess 
roles and responsibili-
ties. Over the past few 
days, WVWD made sig-
nificant operations and 
staff changes, which in-
cludes separation agree-
ments that allow the or-
ganization to reorganize 
and hire highly-qualified 
and experienced staff. 
Under contract obliga-
tions instituted by pre-
vious administrations 
years ago, the WVWD is 
contractually obligated 
to pay six-months sev-
erance to all executive 
employees. With this 
and the novel COVID-19 
pandemic in mind, the 
board provided some ad-
ditional terms to these 
agreements.”

Hawkins said, “There 
is still much more work 
to be done, but the days 
of unqualified and in-
competent management 
and services are over. 
I’m proud to work along-
side our water district’s 
board members to re-
evaluate, reorganize and 
hire highly-experienced 
and qualified profession-
als to do the job right. 
Over the next few weeks, 
we will continue to work 
together to improve ac-
countability, transpar-
ency and fiscal respon-
sibility for West Valley 
ratepayers.”

Crowther said, “I 
sincerely thank them 
for their hard work and 
dedication to serving our 
ratepayers. As we begin 
to evaluate which posi-
tions are critically need-
ed, we will continue the 
new directives we have 

implemented, including 
providing the human re-
sources department the 
authority to complete the 
hiring process. We have 
full confidence in their 
ability to ensure we have 
highly-qualified employ-
ees to improve services 
for our ratepayers.”

Clifford Young said, 
“It’s time that we begin 
moving the water dis-
trict in a new direction. 
It’s what our water dis-
trict needs and what our 
ratepayers deserve. We 
need to be fiscally re-
sponsible, which is why I 
will only support filling 
critically-needed posi-
tions with qualified and 
experienced profession-
als.”

According to Fa-
rooqi, in the case of Bro-
sowske, “The district 
was contractually obli-
gated to pay six months’ 
severance of base sal-
ary only and payout of 
all unused vacation and 
leave. The district paid 
those amounts. In recog-
nition of the emergency 
we are in and the fact 
that this employee would 
be without employment 
during this crisis, among 
other reasons, the dis-
trict agreed to three ad-
ditional months of sever-
ance for Mr. Brosowske 

and agreed to reimburse 
him $5,000 to repay 
educational loans he in-
curred while at the water 
district taking water-
related courses. The to-
tal amount for the three 
months of severance and 
tuition reimbursement is 
$54,961.60.”

Thus, Brosowske is to 
receive, or has already 
received, a full severance 
package of $154,884.80.

In the case of Mar-
tinez, according to Fa-
rooqi, “The District was 
contractually obligated 
to pay six months’ sever-
ance of base salary only 
and payout of all unused 
vacation and leave.” Ow-
ing to the coronavirus 
threat, Farooqi said, “the 
district agreed to three 
additional months of sev-
erance for Mrs. Martinez 
and to pay the equiva-
lent of nine months of 
continuing health care 
coverage for her so that 
she is not without health 
insurance during this 
public health emergency. 
The total amount for the 
three months of sever-
ance and health coverage 
is $52,720.38. The water 
district also agreed to 
provide a letter of rec-
ommendation to Ms. 
Martinez.”

Similarly, with regard 

to Escalera, Farooqi said, 
the district is providing 
her with sixth months of 
continuing health cover-
age and a payout of six 
months of her salary, 
which he did not speci-
fy. He also said the dis-
trict is reimbursing her 
$7,000 for tuition “for 
courses she took while at 
the water district.”

According to Farooqi, 
Chamberlayne recom-
mended the board con-
sider, “a strategic com-
munications plan” which 
“will include month-by-
month information de-
tailing customer service 
related communications, 
announcements, news-
letters, social media 
posts, events, commu-
nity outreach, etc.” and 
“detailed budget infor-
mation, resources, and 
defined roles.”

In his suggestions for 
restructuring the exter-
nal affairs department, 
Chamberlayne alluded 
to Brosowske, noting 
“WVWD was the only 
water district in a com-
prehensive survey of 
water districts to have an 
assistant general manag-
er responsible for meter 
reading, customer ser-
vice, public affairs, and 
conservation. Previous-
ly, the assistant general 

manager was a bottle-
neck in project progress.” 
Chamberlayne said con-
solidating Brosowske’s 
former function into that 
of a “general and human 
resources manager will 
create and implement an 
organizational structure 
for a communications-
related department in 
which there is no ambi-
guity regarding direct 
reports.”

The departure of Bro-
sowske from the West 
Valley Water District has 
now focused attention 
on the staffing choices 
made by San Bernardino 
County Third District 
Supervisor Don Rowe, 
who is employing three 
known political opera-
tives – Matt Knox in the 
position of her chief of 
staff; Dillon Lesovsky as 
her policy advisor; and 
Suzette Swallow as her 
communications direc-
tor.

There is concern that 
Knox, Lesovsky and 
Swallow will be detailed 
by Rowe to work, while 
being paid as public em-
ployees, on Jay Ober-
nolte’s campaign for 
Congress and Thurston 
Smith’s campaign for 
Assembly in the upcom-
ing November election.

-Mark Gutglueck

abused his position in the 
DA’s office to investigate 
[the] Colonies [Partners] 
and Burum and to even-
tually prosecute Burum 
and others.”

In support of his con-
tention that the informa-
tion that was deleted or 
not produced was likely 
relevant to the case the 
plaintiffs are seeking to 
make, Larson provided 
the court with some of 
the leaked emails and 
text messages which 
contained references to 
the plaintiffs in the civil 
case when they were de-
fendants in the criminal 
case. Ramos’s language 
or characterizations, 
Larson said, “appear to 
be overzealous or politi-
cally charged.” Larson 
further noted that Ra-
mos on occasion used 

two of his campaign’s 
email accounts “to dis-
cuss investigative and 
prosecutorial actions” 
rather than utilizing the 
means of communica-
tion available to him as 
district attorney, thereby 
blurring his professional 
prosecutorial function 
and his political activity.

In making the motion, 
Larson pointed out that 
the “spoliation occurred 
because Ramos shut 
down the campaign web-
site and emails located at 
mike@joinmikeramos.
com in 2018, after liti-
gation had commenced, 
and never produced texts 
from his personal cellu-
lar phones.”

The legal team repre-
senting the county, Ra-
mos and the other named 
defendants, headed by 
Charles Slyngstad of the 
law firm of Burke, Wil-
liams & Sorensen, did 
not dispute that the cam-
paign email account was 
“closed” shortly after 
June 2018, when Ramos 
lost his bid for reelection 
as district attorney and 
that the mike@joinmi-

keramos.com account 
is no longer accessible. 
The county’s legal team 
also maintains that Ra-
mos routinely deleted 
texts off of his cellular 
phone, doing so as a mat-
ter of course. The defen-
dants asserted that the 
plaintiffs had not shown 
evidence of prejudice 
or the intent required to 
warrant the imposition 
of sanctions, and that as 
district attorney, Ramos 
had forwarded emails 
relevant to the district at-
torney’s office’s function 
to his employees, who at 
that time were involved 
in prosecuting the four 
plaintiffs. Furthermore, 
in a declaration in re-
sponse to the motion that 
Larson had filed, Ramos 
disputed knowing or 
understanding he was 
under any obligation to 
preserve text messages. 
Slyngstad claimed that 
Ramos routinely deleted 
text messages when he 
received and read them, 
and that Larson had 
failed to explain what 
duty the county may 
have had with regard to 

Ramos’s campaign email 
account and personal 
cellular phone. It was 
untrue, Slyngstad main-
tained, that the county 
had engaged in the spo-
liation Larson described. 
Since the plaintiffs al-
ready possess emails 
and text messages that 
originated from Ramos 
or were passed through 
by him, according to 
Slyngstad, Larson’s 
motion was essentially 
pointless, and the emails 
and text messages the 
plaintiffs characterize as 
missing do not hamper 
the plaintiffs from pro-
ceeding with their case.

According to Larson, 
the county and Ramos 
were put on notice in Oc-
tober 2017 that the plain-
tiffs were purposed to 
sue the county over the 
ordeal Burum and the 
Colonies Partners had 
been put through.

The range of sanc-
tions that Larson had 
sought to be applicable if 
his motion was granted 
included a terminating 

It Was No Big Deal 
That Former DA 
Routinely Deleted 
His Messages & 
Emails, Lawyer 
Insists    
from page 10 
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As One Steeped In The Law, Former DA’s 
Claim He Didn’t Know He Wasn’t Sup-
posed To Destroy Evidence Is Not Cred-
ible, Judge Determines  from page 11
one, meaning entering a 
default judgment in favor 
of Burum and the Colo-
nies Partners, thus con-
cluding the two lawsuits 
involving Burum and the 
Colonies Partners, which 
seek a total of $130 mil-
lion from the county, in 
the plaintiff’s favor.

U.S. District Court 
Judge Jesus G. Bernal 
will oversee the suits 
when they go to trial. He 
routed the motion filed 
by Larson to U.S. Mag-
istrate Judge Shashi H. 
Kewalramani to evaluate 
it and make determina-
tions, findings and a rec-
ommendation.

Judge Kewalramani 
determined that the 
county had an obliga-
tion to keep Ramos’s text 
messages sent and re-
ceived from his personal 
cell phone and emails 
from his two campaign 
accounts intact. The 
judge rejected Ramos’s 
assertion that he did not 
know he was required 
to preserve his text mes-
sages or emails, which as 
a lawyer he had to recog-
nize constituted critical 
evidence in the federal 
suit.

“At the outset, nei-
ther party contests that 
the electronically stored 
information was deleted 
by Ramos from Ramos’s 
personal cellular phone 
and as a result of closing 
down the mike@joinmi-
keramos.com e-mail ac-
count,” Judge Kewalra-
mani stated in his ruling. 
“Here, plaintiffs believe 
the ESI [electronically 
stored information] has 
been irretrievably lost 
because of their own 
investigation and defen-
dants’ admissions that 
the emails in Ramos’s 
mike@joinmikeramos.
com were deleted in 2018 
and one of the campaign 
accounts was closed, 
that any pre-2016 text 
messages were lost when 
Ramos obtained a new 
cellular phone, and that 
text messages between 
2016-2018 were lost be-
cause Ramos regularly 
deleted them off of his 
phone. Specifically, 
plaintiffs point to their 
limited success retriev-
ing the emails from other 
custodians, and note, for 
example, one recipient of 
emails from Ramos pur-

portedly utilized a pro-
gram that auto-deletes 
emails every six months. 
To the extent other cus-
todians have the emails, 
plaintiffs argue, it is 
‘telling’ that they have 
failed to produce those 
emails. Defendants state 
that they have searched 
the electronic data main-
tained by the county for 
Ramos and other defen-
dants and non-parties, 
that several individual 
defendants (not includ-
ing Ramos) have pro-
duced documents from 
their respective personal 
email accounts and text 
communications, and 
that third parties have 
produced documents 
in response to plain-
tiffs’ subpoenas seek-
ing personal records 
relating to, among other 
things, communications 
with Ramos. The rel-
evant questions are then 
whether the missing ESI 
is relevant and whether 
it is irreplaceable. With 
respect to the irreplace-
able nature of the ESI at 
issue, ESI ‘often exists 
in multiple locations,’ 
and plaintiffs have not 
proffered expert testi-
mony as to whether the 
email account and the 
texts can be restored or 
replaced with addition-
al discovery. Plaintiffs 
did, however, provide 
evidence that they tried 
to retrieve the lost ESI 
from third parties. On 
the other hand, Ramos’s 
declaration makes clear 
that he deliberately de-
leted the text messages 
and canceled the email 
account, resulting in 
destruction. Further, it 
does not appear that... 
the county, Ramos, [or] 
Ramos’s counsel made 
any attempts to preserve 
the ESI. Defendants’ 
arguments that ESI in 
these locations was not 
relevant and was cumu-
lative, however, is based 
on conjecture. Plaintiffs 
at least cite to evidence 
from these two sources, 
and obtained from other 
sources, that show they 
are relevant to the is-
sues in this case. Based 
on this evidence, there 
is sufficient information 
to find that the ESI was 
lost.”

Judge Kewalramani’s 
analysis continued, 

“Routine destruction 
constitutes spoliation 
where a party ‘had some 
notice that the docu-
ments were potentially 
relevant to the litigation 
before they were de-
stroyed.’ An entity and 
employee defendants 
can both be under a duty 
to preserve, and there-
fore culpable for spolia-
tion of ESI, even if one 
or the other is directly 
responsible for the de-
struction of evidence. ‘A 
non-party’s spoliation 
of evidence may be im-
puted to a party who did 
not engage in spoliation.’ 
Plaintiffs argue defen-
dants should have rea-
sonably anticipated liti-
gation by October 2017, 
when county counsel 
advised the board of su-
pervisors about potential 
litigation related to the 
unsuccessful criminal 
investigation and pros-
ecution of Burum, or by 
November 1, 2017, when 
James Erwin, a plaintiff 
in the consolidated ac-
tions who is not a mov-
ing party, filed his com-
plaint. Plaintiffs contend 
that the relevant ESI was 
deleted sometime af-
ter July 2018, by which 
time plaintiffs had com-
menced litigation and 
even propounded dis-
covery, while defendants 
argue the deletion oc-
curred shortly after June 
2018. Defendants argue 
that Ramos could not 
have been aware of al-
legations against him on 
November 1, 2017, based 
on the filing of Erwin’s 
complaint. Defendants 
further argue the county 
did not have a duty to 
preserve Ramos’s per-
sonal emails and texts. 
Regardless of whether 
defendants were on no-
tice of pending or antici-
pated litigation involv-
ing plaintiffs in October 
or November of 2017, it 
is clear that the emails 
were lost after the com-
mencement of litigation. 
[The] Colonies [Part-
ners] filed its complaint 
on March 1, 2018, and 
counsel who is repre-
senting both the county 
and Ramos filed a waiv-
er of service on behalf 
of Ramos on March 14, 
2018. Mr. Burum filed 
his initial complaint on 
April 2, 2018 and again, 
the same counsel repre-
senting both the county 
and Ramos filed a waiv-
er of service on behalf of 
Ramos. Consequently, 

Ramos, with the assis-
tance of his experienced 
counsel, had a duty to 
preserve his emails and 
text messages following 
the commencement of 
the litigation. Instead, 
Ramos deleted text mes-
sages and closed his 
campaign account and 
is now claiming he had 
no idea he was required 
to preserve such ESI un-
til some recent date—as 
late as his December 
2019 deposition. Igno-
rance of this obligation 
of preservation, espe-
cially from sophisticated 
parties who have the as-
sistance of experienced 
counsel, is not persua-
sive to this magistrate 
judge.”

Further, Judge Kew-
alramani ascertained, 
“Defendants counter that 
plaintiffs fail to show 
that Ramos intended to 
deprive plaintiffs of any 
evidence in litigation. 
Defendants point to the 
fact that Ramos sent 
emails and text messages 
to various individuals at 
the DA’s office, evinc-
ing he did not intend 
to conceal any com-
munications. Further, 
defendants argue there 
is no basis for the mo-
tion against the county, 
a defendant who did not 
control access to Ra-
mos’s personal phone or 
campaign email account. 
Ramos, as a former DA, 
is a sophisticated party 
who had the assistance 
of experienced civil liti-
gation counsel, as least 
as of March 14, 2018. His 
explanations that he was 
unaware of these obliga-
tions to retain the emails 
and text messages that 
could be relevant and 
material to litigation he 
was embroiled in are un-
convincing. This is even 
more so because Ra-
mos, as an experienced 
criminal practitioner 
in the California state 
courts, should be famil-
iar with Cal. Crim 371, 
which provides: If the 
defendant tried to hide 
evidence or discourage 
someone from testifying 
against (him/her), that 
conduct may show that 
(he/she) was aware of 
(his/her) guilt. Neverthe-
less, Ramos continued 
deleting text messages 
that pertained to the liti-
gation and deleted his 
campaign email account 
from which he corre-
sponded about work and 
personal matters after 

litigation commenced 
and long after litigation 
was reasonably fore-
seeable. Consequently, 
based on these factors, 
it is reasonable for this 
magistrate judge to infer 
that the materials were 
deleted with the intent to 
deprive their production 
to plaintiffs. Although 
the county’s obligations 
to preserve the lost ESI 
are somewhat attenu-
ated, and the parties fail 
to provide much case law 
on whether Ramos’s ac-
tions are attributable to 
the county, based on the 
fact that the county rea-
sonably anticipated the 
litigation and failed to 
prevent the destruction 
of the ESI— including 
failing to instruct Ramos 
to preserve ESI—and 
both the county and Ra-
mos are be represented 
by the same counsel, the 
intent to deprive plain-
tiffs of the text messages 
and emails can be imput-
ed to the county.”

Judge Kewalramani 
stopped short of rec-
ommending that ter-
minating sanctions 
be applied against the 
county, Ramos and the 
other defendants, “Ter-
minating sanctions are 
not warranted in this 
case,” Judge Kewalra-
mani wrote. “Terminat-
ing sanctions should be 
reserved for the most 
egregious cases of mis-
conduct. The record in 
this case does not sup-
port that plaintiffs are so 
harmed by the spoliation 
as to be unable to present 
their case, and it does not 
appear that defendants 
destroyed evidence in di-
rect violation of a court 
order. Accordingly, the 
court recommends de-
nying plaintiffs’ motion 
for sanctions insofar as 
plaintiffs request termi-
nating sanctions.”

Nevertheless, Judge 
Kewalramani recom-
mended an adverse infer-
ence instruction be given 
to the jury that eventual-
ly hears the case, mean-
ing, essentially that the 
jury will be informed 
that Ramos deleted the 
texts and emails, and that 
given the circumstances, 
it is logical for the jury to 
draw the inference that 
the texts and emails con-
tained harsh statements 
about the plaintiffs in the 
case which demonstrates 
that Ramos was act-
ing prejudicially against 
them.

“Based on the timing 
and circumstances of the 
text message and email 
deletions, the court in-
fers bad intent from de-
fendants’ actions,” Judge 
Kewalramani stated in 
his report and recom-
mendation to Judge Ber-
nal.

On March 27, Judge 
Bernal accepted Judge 
Kewalramani’s findings, 
which were filed on Feb-
ruary 27, endorsing the 
conclusion that Ramos 
had a duty to preserve 
emails and text messages 
relevant to the issues be-
ing litigated in the suits 
brought by the Colonies 
Partners and Burum.

Bernal ordered the 
county to pay Larson 
reasonable attorney fees 
associated with the prep-
aration of the motion, 
which Larson pegged at 
$42,589.

“It is shocking that 
any lawyer, particularly 
one serving as district 
attorney, would act in 
‘bad faith’ and destroy 
evidence relevant to an 
on-going litigation,” Lar-
son said. “I cannot de-
scribe the outrage felt by 
Jeff Burum, the Colonies 
Partners, and the others 
who have been subjected 
to Mike Ramos’ politi-
cal persecution over this 
past decade, now only 
to discover that he de-
stroyed evidence of his 
nefarious conduct.”

Slyngstad was not 
panicked by the Kew-
alramani’s findings and 
Bernal’s confirmation, 
which he has maintained 
has no direct bearing on 
the case, which he said 
relates to prosecuto-
rial action taken in good 
faith against Burum after 
he utilized money as an 
influencing agent upon 
government officials to 
sway a political deci-
sion for his own unlaw-
ful financial gain which 
redounded to the detri-
ment of the citizens of 
San Bernardino County. 
Slyngstad has suggested 
the convictions obtained 
against Postmus for tak-
ing bribes provided to 
him by Burum validate 
the criminal charges that 
the district attorney’s of-
fice, in conjunction with 
the California Attorney 
General’s Office, identi-
fied as applicable against 
Burum and his co-defen-
dants, which were veri-
fied when the grand jury 
returned an indictment 
against them in 2011.


